BNSSG IAPT Draft Service Specification Schedule 2 Section A

This draft specification for the new IAPT service has been developed through a year's work of the IAPT Project Group and from the thorough public engagement process. It has already undergone a considerable amount of scrutiny and constructive comment/amendment from:

- The IAPT recommissioning project group.
- Within the BNSSG CCG (CEO, Exec Directors, programme leads, commissioners and clinical lead).
- Local Authority Public Health managers.
- BIMHN (Bristol Independent Mental Health Network).

i. Introduction to this specification

(N.B. This introduction will be considerably amended (and some sections deleted) after consultation).

This is the specification for the Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire (BNSSG) IAPT service.

i.i Approach

The causal connection between poverty, unemployment and social isolation and common mental health difficulties is well evidenced. Commissioners have therefore taken an innovative and positive new approach (see <u>3.1.1</u>, Service ethos) that locates the mandated clinical IAPT interventions within the wider socio-economic context in which the service and its users exist.

It is expected that, through a strong outward-focus and the establishment of formal referral connections to and from a wide range of **existing external** (largely local authority funded) provision across the area, within limited resources, the clinical IAPT interventions will be better supported to maximize its effectiveness and sustainability and improve service user outcomes.

The outward-looking ethos of this service will require a holistic assessment that understands psychological issues in the wider context in which they exist. A wholly clinical assessment will not be sufficient to gain such an understanding of each person and could lead to failure to pick up on important factors that cause or influence the presenting issue.

i.ii Structure of the document

The expectations of IAPT's impact are extensive and cover a wide range of both core and issue/health/group-specific areas. This specification is therefore structured in sections that highlight these.

i.ii.i Delivery of the service's national and local outcomes

This specification, is based on a set of strictly defined national requirements and outcomes, as well as sets of locally defined expectations and outcomes. While it does not strictly stipulate either the model by which the service ethos should be delivered, or exactly how the provider will measure the delivery, commissioners expectations are ambitious. It crucially sets out an ethos and approach (above) that offers the opportunity to an innovative outward-looking and ambitious lead provider to draw on their experience, skills and connections to develop a delivery model to meet these requirements.

In practice this means that, in their bids, potential providers will describe the details of:

 The model they intend to put in place in order to deliver the service's expectations and outcomes. • How they intend to measure national and local outcomes and evidence the impact of the service.

i.ii.ii Headings:

The document includes these key headings:

- *'Local defined outcomes':* This section lists the locally defined outcomes (in addition to the nationally mandated outcomes) to be achieved through this specification.
- *'Provider expectations':* Details the expectations of the provider in terms of service standards and steps to be taken by the provider in its delivery of the contract.
- 'Key issues and tensions': These are included in all major sections and describe the particular issues and tensions that the provider will be expected to understand and take responsibility for continually working with dynamically in their service delivery. They illustrate where such issues arise (with particular local resonances) variously due to for example:
 - Demographics, equality/under-representation, geography and/or mental health profile.
 - The picture of primary/secondary services across the area.
 - Conflicts inherent in different delivery decisions (which may/should change/flex over the contract period).
 - National guidance and potential for service efficiency being at odds with key messages from local service user experience and preference.

Commissioners do not prescribe fixed delivery responses to these issues, but attempt to show an understanding of them and offer the provider the agency to work with and find solutions over the course of the contract.

i.iii The IAPT Manual

The national expectations of IAPT service delivery are documented in the IAPT Manual and further developed in the Positive Practice Guides. The reporting requirements of the MDS (Minimum Data Set) are provided on the NHS digital website.

These national documents must be used to inform the core delivery of the service. This specification does not rewrite the requirements and good practice guidance of these documents, but rather reinforces them and expects that they are used throughout.

The Manual describes the complexities involved in delivering an effective IAPT service, and Commissioners have built on it and the suite of Positive Practice Guides by integrating the learning from the three current (BNSSG) services and the public engagement/consultation process to construct this specification.

i.iv Note on navigation

In order that wording is not reproduced in multiple locations, where expectations/explanations are described elsewhere, they have been cross-referenced wherever possible.

Contents

SC	HEDULE 2	- THE SERVICES	4
	۹.	Service Specifications	
	1.	Population Needs, evidence review and national IAPT priorities	4
	1.1	National/local context and evidence base	4
	1.2	Evidence review summary	8
	1.3	National IAPT priorities	9
2	2.	Outcomes	10
	2.1	NHS Outcomes Framework Domains & Indicators	10
	2.2	National outcomes	10

2017/18 and 2018/19 PARTICULARS (Full Length) (updated January2018)

	2.2.1	Access standard	. 10
	2.2.2	Waiting times standard	. 11
	2.2.3	Recovery standard	. 11
	2.3	Measurement, evaluation and learning/development	. 11
	2.4	Relationship with commissioners	. 12
	2.5	Local defined outcomes	. 13
	2.6	Provider expectations	. 16
3.		Scope	. 28
	3.1	Aims and objectives of service	. 28
	3.1.1	Service ethos	. 28
	3.1.2	Equality and equity	. 30
	3.1.3	Co-production and user involvement	. 32
	3.2	Service description/care pathway	. 33
	3.2.1	Delivery model	. 33
	3.2.2	Improving access to, and accessibility of the service	. 34
	3.2.3	Timeliness of service	. 36
	3.2.4	Interventions and therapies	. 37
	3.2.5	Assessment	. 41
	3.2.6	Recovery	. 43
	3.2.7	Communications	. 43
	3.2.8	Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained sympton (MUS)	
	3.2.9	Younger people (16 years+)	. 46
	3.2.10	Older people	. 47
	3.2.11	Perinatal mental health	. 48
	3.2.12	Learning disability (including Autism Spectrum Disorder - ASD)	. 49
	3.2.13	Sexual abuse and sexual violence	. 49
	3.2.14	Psychosis, bipolar disorder and complex needs (including those personality disorder diagnoses)	
	3.2.15	Employment and job retention support	. 52
	3.2.16	Poverty, debt and benefits advice	. 52
	3.2.17	Housing and homelessness	. 53
	3.2.18	Tobacco Cessation & Harm Reduction	. 54
	3.2.19	Substance misuse	. 54
	3.2.20	People in contact with the criminal justice system	. 54
	3.2.21	Serving and ex-serving armed forces personnel	. 55
	3.3	Population covered - conditions treated by IAPT	. 55
	3.4	Any acceptance and exclusion criteria and thresholds	. 56
	3.4.1	Acceptance criteria	. 56
	3.4.2	Exclusions	. 56
	3.5	Interdependence with other services/providers	. 57
	3.5.1	Primary and Secondary mental health interface	. 57

	3.5.2	Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support		
	3.6	Workforce, education and training 59		
	3.7	Information management and technology (IM&T) 61		
4.		Applicable Service Standards		
	4.1	Applicable national standards (eg NICE) 72		
	4.2	Applicable standards set out in Guidance and/or issued by a competent body (eg Royal Colleges)		
	4.3	Applicable local standards		
5.		Applicable quality requirements and CQUIN goals 73		
	5.1	Applicable Quality Requirements (See Schedule 4A-C)		
	5.2	Applicable CQUIN goals (See Schedule 4D) 73		
6.		Location of Provider Premises		
7.		Individual Service User Placement73		
Ke	Key of technical definitions and abbreviations73			
Bi	dder pack	documents		

SCHEDULE 2 – THE SERVICES

A. Service Specifications

Service Specification No.	TBC
Service	Improving Access to Psychological Therapies across Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire
Commissioner Lead	Ian Popperwell
Provider Lead	TBC
Period	Five years
Date of Review	TBC

1. Population Needs, evidence review and national IAPT priorities

1.1 National/local context and evidence base

1.1.1 Background

There are nearly one million residents in BNSSG, and nearly half of the population live in Bristol. There are three acute hospital trusts, an ambulance trust, four providers of community services and a mental health trust, as well as 104 GP practices and supporting organisations including those from the voluntary and community sector.

Some people's mental health issues are recurrent, long-term conditions, while others' are short-term and temporary. Either way, they can occur alongside a range of physical and behavioural co-morbidities which can have a considerable impact on a person's life. Social, economic, relational and cultural factors also have a substantial impact on mental and

physical health, and The Marmot Review (2010)¹ described and evidenced their social determinants.

1.1.2 Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire profiles

Bristol: Bristol is the major city of the South-West region, and the seventh largest city in England. In national policy terms it is one of the eight English Core Cities. Locally, it is the economic and cultural hub of the West of England (former Avon) sub-region. The unitary authority has a population of approximately 454,200 people (2016): roughly two-thirds of the greater Bristol conurbation. Bristol is part of the West of England Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) area. On a city-wide scale, Bristol's status as the major regional centre attracts inward investment and national programming.

Bristol is a city of extremes of wealth and deprivation, sometimes such areas are in close proximity to each other, with the major areas of deprivation being in the north fringe area, south Bristol, and central/east inner-city Bristol. Under-achievement in education and low skill levels have been identified as key areas for improvement to enable the most deprived areas to benefit from economic growth. There are significant health inequalities and life expectancy gaps alongside economic deprivation. Patterns of disability mapped across the city broadly follow the geography of deprivation. The last Census recorded at least 16% of the population as having a "life limiting long-term illness or disability". However, this rate is considerably higher in the more deprived outer areas at over 20%, and there is an average 9 year gap in life expectancy between the most and least deprived areas of Bristol. However health on average is very good when compared with the other Core Cities, and the estimation of healthy life expectancy at age 65 is also good when compared with them.

Bristol's population is projected to increase by 2021 to roughly 473,000, largely being driven by rising birth rates and by migration. Unlike its West of England neighbours, Bristol's population is skewed towards a younger age profile, and the rising birth rate is due to an underlying high population of people in their 20s and 30s. Over the next 10 years Bristol's population is expected to see growth in four areas (0-15s, 20-35s, 50s, and over 75s). The population of 0-15s will rise by 17.6% between 2010 and 2020, an increase of 12,700 children. The proportion of older people at 13% is, by contrast, much smaller than in the surrounding areas and when compared nationally, and is not projected to rise significantly, although the proportion of very old people - over 85s - is increasing significantly.

Bristol is the most culturally and ethnically diverse area in the South-west, and some areas now rival parts of London for the range of countries of origin and first languages spoken. By 2011, 15% people were not born in the UK, 45 religions, 50 countries of origin and 91 languages were represented in the city. This diversity has expanded geographically over time particularly into north Bristol. The biggest groups arriving in Bristol recently have been white Eastern European, particularly since the expansion of the EU, and Black African, particularly from Somalia. Recent estimates put the Somali population at approximately 10,000. The other main area of growth in diversity is in mixed race or dual heritage, particularly amongst the young.

Bristol's (and surrounding counties) deaf population is higher than the national average, second only to London, and is made up of British Sign Language (BSL) using residents, hard of hearing, deafened and deafblind people. Bristol is therefore the focus for a strong and focussed BSL-using Deaf Community.

As the major regional centre, Bristol acts as a focus for a range of activities and services for marginalised or otherwise "hard to hear" groups, particularly the lesbian, gay, bi-sexual or trans-gender (LGBTQ+) communities. It is hard to establish figures but estimates suggest that there are roughly 26,500 LGBTQ+ people in Bristol.

Bristol has a range of household types - stand out features being a high proportion of adult households with no children (students, young professionals, etc), and a high percentage of

¹ <u>Marmot, M. Fair Society, Healthy Lives: A Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England</u> <u>Post-2010. The Marmot Review. 2010.</u>

people living on their own (38%), of whom a significant proportion are people over 65 (est. 21,000 people) (2012).

(Adapted from the Quartet Community Foundation's 2014 Bristol Area Profile).²

North Somerset: North Somerset covers an area of around 145 square miles and has a population of 211,681 people. The main settlements include the strategically significant town of Weston-super-Mare and the three smaller towns of Portishead, Clevedon and Nailsea. Around these towns there is a scattered rural population.

The population of North Somerset is less ethnically diverse than England and Wales with 97% of people living in North Somerset classifying themselves as belonging to a white ethnic group, a decrease of one percentage point since 2001. Of those from a black or minority ethnic group 44% classified themselves as Asian and a further 37% classified themselves as mixed race.

In terms of the Indices of Deprivation (ID) 2015, North Somerset has 18 areas in the most deprived quartile in the country. All of these areas are in Weston-super-Mare. There are areas in North Somerset within the most and least deprived 1% nationally. This results in North Somerset having the 3rd largest inequality gap out of the 326 English districts (calculated using the difference between the highest and lowest area scores in a district).

South Gloucestershire: In the 2001 census, the population of South Gloucestershire was 245,641. By mid-2016, the population had increased to 277,600. South Gloucestershire is the 54th least deprived Local Authority in England (ranked 273rd out of 326). The area has relatively high levels of economic prosperity, with one of the highest levels of employment in the country. Local residents consider their quality of life to be good, placing high value on the local environment and countryside. South Gloucestershire has well-established manufacturing industries such as aerospace and advanced engineering. High technology companies are now based in the area, as is the University of the West of England, which draws a significant student population.

Of South Gloucestershire's 165 LSOAs (Lower Layer Super Output Area) only 19 are in the top 40% of the most deprived LSOAs nationally, representing 11.5% of the South Gloucestershire population. Nearly 68% of the South Gloucestershire population are among the 40% most affluent LSOAs in the country, indicating that areas of deprivation exist despite the area being generally seen as affluent. With much of South Gloucestershire benefiting from the protective effect of the areas general affluence, the poorer health outcomes of the more deprived may be missed when looking at South Gloucestershire as a whole. This complicates the challenge of identifying the population's health inequalities and providing services that will help reduce the gap between the 'haves' and 'have nots'.

There is a gap of 2.8 years in life expectancy between those that live in priority neighbourhoods compared to South Gloucestershire as a whole in 2014. There is a slight increase since 2006 that shows the inequality in life expectancy across South Gloucestershire is widening.

1.1.3 Overall levels of wellbeing and happiness

When asked, three out of four (75%) of people across England say that they have high or very high rates of happiness, compared to similar in South Gloucestershire 71% in Bristol and 77% in North Somerset. Feelings of people's lives being worthwhile were higher with 84% across England similar rates in North Somerset, 83% in Bristol and 86% in South Gloucestershire. Notably, responses for low levels of happiness decreased in Bristol (from 11% to 9.4%) and North Somerset (from 8.8% to 7.3%) between 2015/16 and 2016/17 and increased in South Gloucestershire (from 8% to 9%).

1.1.4 Health needs across BNSSG

The population of BNSSG is growing and the health needs are changing:

² Bristol Area Profile. Quartet Community Foundation. 2014.

- The population is due to grow significantly in the next few years, with a large increase in people aged over 75. Indeed the BNSSG population growth is likely to grow at a greater rate than national projections as the latter does not take into account dwelling-led population growth. Local people are living longer and older people tend to have additional health needs related to complex multiple conditions.
- The health of the people in BNSSG overall is generally good; however there is great variation across the population.
- There are widespread inequalities across BNSSG, with stark health inequalities. The difference in life expectancy between those people living in the most and least deprived areas of BNSSG is 6.3 years.
- The most common causes of premature death in BNSSG are due to cancer, heart disease and stroke, liver disease and injury. These main causes of early death are often preventable and amenable to public health interventions. Behavioural and lifestyle factors including smoking, excessive alcohol consumption and poor diets are linked to an increasing number of diseases and conditions.
- The prevalence of mental health problems disproportionality affect people living in the most deprived areas, with rates of self-harm proving to be a significant local issue.

1.1.5 Levels of mental health needs within BNSSG

Estimates suggest that just over 1 in 5 people who live in Bristol experience common mental health problems, this is higher than rates in England (16%), North Somerset (17%) and South Gloucestershire (14%). See table below for more details and an outline of other mental health problems that are covered by the IAPT service.

Mental health condition	England (%)	Bristol (%)	N Somerset (%)	S Gloucestershire (%)
Common mental health disorders	16	21	17	14
Mixed anxiety and depressive disorder	9	13	10	8
Depression	9	10	11	9
Generalised anxiety	5	5	5	4
Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder	3	3	3	3
Obsessive Compulsive Disorder	1.1	1.1	0.7	0.9
Panic Disorder	0.7	0.8	0.6	0.5

1.1.6 Table 1: Estimated prevalence of persons with common mental health problems across, Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire

Source: Public Health profiles

1.1.7 Self-harm and suicide rates

Deliberate self-harm is the act of deliberately causing harm to oneself by either causing a physical injury or putting oneself in dangerous situations and/or self-neglect. Rates of emergency admission for self-harm are significantly higher than England (185 per 100,000) in South Gloucestershire (210) and Bristol (290) and similar to England in North Somerset (176).

Between 2014 and 2016 across the BNSSG area suicide rates are significantly higher in Bristol (13 per 100,000 population) than England, similar to England in North Somerset (10) and significantly lower in South Gloucestershire (7).

1.1.8 Impact of mental health on employment

Employment is a primary determinant of health, impacting both directly and indirectly on the individual, their families and communities. Unemployment is associated with an increased risk of mortality and morbidity, including poor mental health and suicide.

Rates of employment support allowance for people with mental health concerns are high in Bristol (34 per 1000 population) and North Somerset (31) when compared to England (28) but lower in South Gloucestershire (16)

1.2 Evidence review summary

Public Health, Bristol City Council (October 2017)

Links to key related sections:

2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development

1.2.1 Holistic models for IAPT delivery

- A particular concern for this evidence request related to information on "holistic models of IAPT delivery", i.e. models where IAPT was delivered in combination with a consideration for employment, social prescribing, physical health, and other factors.
- There was a lack of evidence on such holistic models of IAPT delivery. Such models could not be identified in the (limited) literature search undertaken (of both academic and grey literature). Services appear to focus on limited factors, such as employment or a particular health condition, instead of encompassing 'the person as a whole'.
- Some IAPT services refer to (or are linked to) services that appear to be more holistic in their approach – these include Life Rooms (Mersey Care) and Spring to Life (Birmingham).
- This lack of evidence does not indicate that such a holistic model would not work, but that it perhaps has not yet been tested, or that such evidence has not been made publically available.
- As this innovative model is being pursued across BNSSG for the IAPT service, it is
 very important that evaluation is built in to the programme from the start. This would
 be crucial in monitoring the development and success of any changes made, and
 would help to build a future evidence base for such a model.

1.2.2 Employment advice and other concurrent interventions

- IAPT guidelines have always expected teams to include one employment specialist per every eight therapists; however the current ratio nationally is 1:50.
- Evaluation evidence indicates that clients who see employment advisers appear to view this positively, however the quality of evidence is not particularly robust – it remains unclear how crucial such services are in relation to the outcomes claimed.
- Evidence is lacking on how to best implement or embed employment support into IAPT services.

1.2.3 Other associated connections

- Some other suggestions of services to incorporate with IAPT include money advice, nature-based interventions, and arts therapy.
- Early "integrated LTC IAPT" implementers seem to focus on specific physical health conditions, such as COPD or diabetes, in relative isolation.

1.2.4 Quality of evidence

- The difficulty in drawing conclusions from the general IAPT evidence base is that many studies and evaluations are not comparative. Where individual services have reported successes, it cannot be known whether such improvement would have occurred in any case.
- Additionally, lack of comparative evidence means we cannot say anything about whether an 'enhanced' model "works better" (or worse!) than a traditional model.

1.2.5 Lessons from well-performing IAPT services

- Oxford Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) has reported success in improving recovery rates in its region. A crucial part of this success is monthly collection and analysis of key performance data, with feedback provided to individual services. Based on the local data, additional staff training is provided (e.g. on specific disorders) and services ensure that the NICE-recommended number of IAPT sessions is provided. (For full details, see search document.)
- Swindon's LIFT Psychology model has reported access rates "well above 19%" consistently for more than two years.
- Islington's iCope IAPT service has reported improvements in recovery rates. It is staffed with a "larger force of step 2 workers" and offers a variety of interventions including computerised CBT.
- In terms of improving the access rates of BME populations, one element noted in the literature is the involvement of service users in the planning of services. Having link workers in GP practices has also been suggested as a useful approach.
- For further examples/case studies, refer to the full literature search document.

1.2.6 Large evaluations

- Some factors for success noted in the 2013 national evaluation of the first year of IAPT were a higher average numbers of sessions, larger proportion of experienced staff, and higher step-up rates for individuals who started with low intensity treatment.
- The 2011 interim evaluation of IAPT services in the South West emphasised service design factors such as a greater range of group based interventions offered, a greater proportion of step 2 workers, and multiple access methods to the service, as being associated with higher access rates.
- An audit in a London borough particularly noted the impact of session numbers and the amount of clinical contact time as impacting recovery rates.

1.3 National IAPT priorities

The provider will use the IAPT Manual³ which will form the basis, and guide their delivery of the service.

The manual encompasses the following national priorities for IAPT service development and delivery:

³ The Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Manual. 2018.

- Expanding services so that at least 1.5 million adults can access care each year by 2020/21
- Focusing on people with depression and/or any of the anxiety disorders. As IAPT services expand they are expected to increase access to treatment for people who also have long-term physical health conditions, by recruiting and deploying appropriately trained staff in IAPT services where psychological and physical treatment are co-located (these are called 'IAPT-LTC services' in the manual). Such services should also have a focus on people distressed by medically unexplained symptoms, to help this group of people achieve better outcomes
- Improving quality and people's experience of services. This includes improving the numbers of people who recover, reducing geographic variation between services and reducing inequalities in access and outcomes for particular population groups
- Supporting people to find or stay in work, so that IAPT services can better meet a person's individual employment needs and contribute to improved employment outcomes.

2. Outcomes

2.1 NHS Outcomes Framework Domains & Indicators

Domain 1	Preventing people from dying prematurely	\checkmark
Domain 2	Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions	√
Domain 3	Helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or following injury	√
Domain 4	Ensuring people have a positive experience of care	✓
Domain 5	Treating and caring for people in safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm	√

2.2 National outcomes

Links to key related sections:

- 2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development
- 3.1.3 Co-production and user involvement
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.3 Timeliness of service
- 3.2.6 Recovery

2.2.1 Access standard

The access standard for IAPT services to achieve by 2015 was 15% of the community prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders (900,000 people nationally). The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health⁴ sets out that this should rise so that at least 25% of adults with depression and/or anxiety disorders will be able to access IAPT services each year by 2020/21.

⁴ The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health. NHS England. 2016.

2.2.2 Waiting times standard

Of the referrals that have a course of treatment, 75% should have their first treatment session within 6 weeks, and 95% within 18 weeks (100% of pregnant women should have their first treatment session within 6 weeks of referral).

It is good practice for the waiting time standard to be applied to each of the initial interventions (low-intensity and high-intensity therapies) that are offered during a course of treatment. Services should also guard against hidden waits within a course of treatment. For example, this means that there should not be an excessive wait between the first and second appointment for a particular therapy. If the therapy sessions are generally meant to be weekly or fortnightly then the gap between the first and second session should be similar. For people who are stepped-up between low-intensity and high-intensity therapies, the wait between the last low-intensity therapy session and the first high-intensity session should be minimised and certainly should not exceed the waiting time standard for the first intervention.

2.2.3 Recovery standard

The national recovery rate standard is that a minimum of 50% of eligible referrals should move to recovery.

It is critically important to ensure complete and accurate problem descriptors paired with the correct disorder specific measure, so that these can be counted in the recovery rate calculation.

2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development

Links to key related sections:

- 1.2 Evidence review summary
- 2.2 National outcomes
- 2.5 Local defined outcomes
- 2.6 Provider expectations
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.1.3 Co-production and user involvement
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.6 Recovery
- 3.5.1 Primary and Secondary mental health interface

2.3.1 Background

The national requirements for IAPT to report on the Minimum Data Set (MDS)⁵ are clear and the IAPT Manual (and Positive Practice Guides) provide thorough guidance.

Other documents included in the references provide further specific guidance in relation to particular issues and groups.

Over the course of the contract, this service will need to develop and adapt, shaping itself to meet changing need, demographics and national requirements. In order to be able to achieve this, a culture will need to be nurtured across the entire service that is flexible and enthusiastic about learning and improvement.

2.3.2 Key issues and tensions:

⁵ IAPT MDS. NHS Digital.

- It is important that IAPT interventions have a sustained positive effect on the lives (and wider wellbeing) of their users. The MDS requires the collection of data at sessions but does not measure the service impact after discharge. A service that is committed to quality and improvement will expect to collect follow-up (hard and soft) data to be able to understand its lasting impact and use this learning to assess the effectiveness of, and shape its interventions.
- Equality and demographic data will be reported to NHSE as part of the MDS and for the whole service. However, providing whole service average figures can inadvertently serve to mask local under-representation (by being balanced out by areas of higher numbers) and misrepresent the true picture across this large and diverse footprint. It is essential that the provider understands and proactively responds to all of its demographic data on a local level to avoid this.
- The Manual states that the IAPT national standards are not a goal in themselves. The service must be transparent and accountable. It is important for providers to remember that the standards are simply aids to help services achieve the goal of providing timely and effective treatment. Consideration of the wide range of IAPT measures (symptoms, disability, employment and patient experience) is the most appropriate way to determine whether those goals have been achieved. Service leads and clinicians should pay attention to the broader picture of patient benefit and guard against any temptation to report performance data for national standards inaccurately.
- Data analysts have a crucial role within an IAPT service because data quality is a key feature of the success of the IAPT programme. Ensuring alignment of national and local reporting is an essential task since commissioners are performance managed on national, not local, reports. Providing more in-depth local reports for analysis can support staff and managers to understand and improve the quality of the service provided.
- Issues of patient fragility and the influence of the therapeutic relationship can lead to inaccurate responses (e.g. people feeling pressure to provide a positive response).
- It is expected that the provider will use 'test and learn' and other piloting approaches to help develop a service that works across the wide geographical area and that is based on the outward-focussed ethos. Some developments will work better than others, and some will be more appropriate to particular groups, demographics or areas/neighbourhoods than others. It will be important to understand what works best, in which areas and for whom. It will also be important to understand what doesn't work and why in order that it can be modified or ceased. The detail of measurement will be crucial to aiding learning. These tests/pilots must be accountable, properly measured and developed/evaluated alongside service users (and their representative organisations).

2.4 Relationship with commissioners

This contract affords the provider the responsibility and agency to operate within the available financial resources across the whole service using its data to help it make decisions and inform continual developments.

This contract places expectations on the provider to make connections and to develop pathways/protocols across the wider system. It is acknowledged that these will not all be easily accomplished without the reciprocal agreement and co-operation of the partner agencies or the support of CCG and local authority commissioners.

The provider's relationship with commissioners must therefore be dynamic, working together to ensure the best outcomes for service users and to meet national requirements.

2.5 Local defined outcomes

Links to key related sections:

- 2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development
- 3.1.3 Co-production and user involvement

2.5.1 Service ethos

- 2.5.1.1 The effectiveness of the service is demonstrated through full service evaluations.
- 2.5.1.2 The results of the pilot projects funded through the innovation fund are reported to commissioners and the learning continually integrated into service development.
- 2.5.1.3 Secure academic validation for innovative service interventions that promote the service ethos from an appropriate research institution throughout the contract period.

2.5.2 Equality and equity

- 2.5.2.1 No group should find it harder to access the service than any other.
- 2.5.2.2 A workforce that mirrors the population across the service's area.
- 2.5.2.3 A picture of service use that reflects the diverse demographics of need within all populations across the area.
- 2.5.2.4 A service that, through user and public surveys, is widely understood and trusted across all communities.

2.5.3 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

- 2.5.3.1 Demonstrate a continually increasing access rate to/towards 25% of the prevalence population by 2020/21.
- 2.5.3.2 Demonstrate that access rates reflect local prevalence across all population groups.

2.5.4 Timeliness of service

- 2.5.4.1 Of the referrals that have a course of treatment, 75% will have their first treatment session within 6 weeks, and 95% within 18 weeks (see 2.5.9 below for standards for pregnant women).
- 2.5.4.2 Demonstrate (through monitoring) the achievement and maintenance of at least the national average rate of attendance of assessments and treatments.

2.5.5 Assessment

- 2.5.5.1 The assessment process is experienced positively and therapeutically by service users.
- 2.5.5.2 The assessment results in the most appropriate programme of treatment including referral to other associated provision.
- 2.5.5.3 Demonstrate low levels of re-presentation to the service (when compared to national benchmarks).

2.5.6 Recovery

- 2.5.6.1 The service will demonstrate their work to achieve at least the nationally mandated 50% recovery rate.
- 2.5.6.2 Service users who receive step-2&3 therapy show (through follow-up qualitative measurement) sustained recovery after completing treatment.

2.5.6.3 Recovery rates will follow the nationally mandated 50% for the nine protected characteristics (Equality Act 2010).

2.5.7 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)

- 2.5.7.1 People with a long term health condition (from an established IAPT-LTC pathway) who also have depression and/or anxiety and are eligible for IAPT, will receive an integrated approach to their physical and mental health.
- 2.5.7.2 Health staff from the IAPT-LTC pathways established by the service can demonstrate a greater level of confidence in addressing their patients' mental health needs.

2.5.8 Issue and group specific outcomes

- 2.5.8.1 People who present to this service with depression and/or anxiety, and who:
 - Have a learning disability (including Autism Spectrum Disorder)
 - Have dementia
 - Have experienced sexual abuse and/or violence in childhood or adulthood
 - Are refugees
 - Are homeless
 - Are misusing substances (alcohol or drugs)
 - Are in, or have been involved in the criminal justice system
- Are serving or formerly serving service men and women and their family members *And meet its eligibility criteria*:
 - Are able to access the service.
 - Receive assessment and treatments that are appropriate to their needs.
 - Are offered connection to relevant associated services through formal pathways (where they exist).
 - Gain sustained improvement to their mental health through the service working in partnership with other specialist/relevant organisations/agencies.

2.5.9 Perinatal mental health

2.5.9.1 When a woman with a known or suspected mental health problem (and/or the child's father/other parent/care-giver) is referred in the perinatal period (pregnancy through to one year from the child's birth), they will be assessed for treatment within 2 weeks of referral and provided with psychological interventions within 1 month of initial assessment [NICE CG192].

2.5.10 Younger people (16 years +)

- 2.5.10.1 The service will achieve 'Young People Friendly' status for its work with 16/17 year olds.
- 2.5.11 Improving access and interventions for people with psychosis, bipolar disorder or complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)
- 2.5.11.1 People with a diagnosis of psychosis, bipolar disorder and/or people with complex needs (including personality disorders) who are experiencing depression and/or anxiety receive appropriate and effective interventions by

IAPT or another service, where such treatment is judged not to be detrimental to their mental health or other treatments.

- 2.5.11.2 Through receiving psychological therapies, people with psychosis, bipolar disorder and/or complex needs (including personality disorders) are able to gain support for their common mental health difficulties outside, but supported by, secondary mental health services.
- 2.5.11.3 People who present to the service with complex needs (including the various personality disorder diagnoses) will be able to better:
 - Pay attention to the present/live in the moment (achieve mindfulness).
 - Regulate their emotions.
 - Tolerate distress or conflict.
 - Navigate relationships with other people.
 - Achieve motivation to avoid unhealthy coping skills, e.g. self-harm.
 - Evidence good recovery rates.
 - Evidence positive change in other areas of their lives e.g. housing situation, employment, finances.

2.5.12 Employment and job retention support

- 2.5.12.1 Through adopting an integrated approach to employment within the service and strong external connections, people's immediate and short-term needs for job retention and job search goals will be addressed.
- 2.5.12.2 People receive effective and skilled support to maintain their employment.

2.5.13 Housing and homelessness

2.5.13.1 People who present to this service with a housing (or homelessness) issue will be referred at assessment to the appropriate LA or LA commissioned housing advice/allocation service.

2.5.14 Tobacco cessation & harm reduction

- 2.5.14.1 As part of a wider tobacco control action plan for the Public Health outcomes of reducing smoking prevalence in young people and adults (16 yrs+), and reducing the number of pregnant women who smoke at time of delivery, IAPT service users who smoke will:
 - Be offered a brief smoking cessation intervention

And/or

• Be referred/signposted to local smoking cessation interventions.

2.5.15 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

2.5.15.1 Service users' recovery is supported through the contribution of surrounding agencies working collaboratively with IAPT interventions.

2.5.16 Workforce

- 2.5.16.1 A diverse workforce is recruited that is representative of local demographics.
- 2.5.16.2 The service reflects the top 10% of levels of staff retention in IAPT services nationally Through the implementation of a range of wellbeing promotion, training opportunities, career development and management of sickness absence.

2.6 Provider expectations

Links to key related sections:

- 2.2 National outcomes
- 2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development
- 2.5 Local defined outcomes

2.6.1 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development

- Establish a culture across the service that promotes interest in and commitment to continual learning and its relationship to service development.
- Construct (or use existing) a means of measuring and reporting the effect of using this service outward-focussed ethos on a) service users, and b) the service's national and local outcomes.
- Promote understanding of the need for detailed monitoring and use of data in service development.
- Collect the IAPT MDS and have IT systems in place for the automatic reporting of data to NHS Digital on a monthly basis via the Exeter Portal.
- Collect a set of both qualitative and quantitative information in addition to the MDS that will support a holistic and nuanced measurement of service users' presenting difficulties in order to understand how the service can best help and its impact on them.
- Report locally the data from qualitative recovery measures and feed it in to service evaluations when undertaken.
- Use the IAPT Manual's recommended measures of depression and anxiety, along with those for disability, MUS and others that are either required or support service need over the course of the contract.
- Put systems in place for collecting follow-up data in order to evidence the extent to which recovery rates and wider service impacts are sustained.
- Ensure complete and accurate data is collected and reported for all equality categories (protected characteristics within the Equality Act 2010), and, in the analysis, pay particular attention to how groups are under-represented against local demographic prevalence/profiles across BNSSG. Note that in order to meet requirements in relation to women in the perinatal period, in addition to recording pregnancy, the provider should also include women who have a child aged under one year.
- Administer Patient Experience Questionnaires as advised by the IAPT Manual, and use their feedback and experiences to drive service development.
- Establish 'test and learn' and other means of piloting new approaches and practice, replicating it for the groups/demographics/communities that its efficacy is proven for.
- Build on specific evidenced (local and other) good practice models.
- Accurately capture and reflect geographical disparities across the service.
- Commission full service evaluations from an independent institution within 4 months of the end of the second and fifth years of the contract, and after the end of any contract extension period.
- Additional to the ringfenced 'innovation fund' (see <u>3.1.1.2</u>), commission an independent academic body with a wide contextual understanding of mental health from the start of the contract to study the effectiveness of the service's ethos

through researching its innovative practices with the aim of securing academic validation.

• Report to commissioners on challenges in delivery identified and how they have responded (or are responding) in order to resolve them.

2.6.2 Service ethos

The provider will:

- Understand and fully integrate the service ethos into the culture, delivery and development of the service.
- Pilot, test and develop their practice across the area and in relation to the various populations and demographics using the ringfenced 'innovation fund'.

2.6.3 Equality and equity

The provider will:

- Embed equality and inclusion principles values and best practice into all of its structure and culture.
- Promote an outward facing anti-discriminatory approach to the service, understanding how the experiences of stigma and discrimination, and requirements of different Protected Characteristics can be similar, different and layered.
- Pay attention to all groups who have protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) ensuring accessibility, and proactively acting to address under-representation and poor outcomes in all localities.
- Demonstrate a commitment to continual development in relation to equality to inform its practice, service development and improving representation over the whole service.
- Make continual use of the IAPT Manual, Positive Practice Guides⁶ and the range of guidance to support service delivery.
- Understand the demographics of the area and how they change, proactively and specifically outreaching to particular neighbourhoods and communities (including BAME/cultural, LGBTQ+, Deaf people, older and disabled people, neighbourhoods with high socio-economic disadvantage) who are typically under-represented in IAPT services.
- Develop and maintain strong relationships with a wide range of voluntary sector and community organisations that can provide (through formal arrangement e.g. sub-contracting, partnership agreements, referral processes and protocols) particular knowledge, interventions, support and/or therapeutic specialisms in order to enable the service to most appropriately deliver its outcomes.
- Deliver a culturally competent and appropriate service across the entire area, ensuring that learning and expertise is quickly shared and utilised from where it is held as and when required.
- Integrate an understanding of LGB, Trans and gender identity issues within the service that develops with wider thinking and as guidance is produced.
- Ensure capacity in relation to community language capabilities (including for Deaf people for whom British Sign Language is the first language).

2.6.4 Co-production and user involvement

⁶ IAPT Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) Positive Practice Guide. NHS. 2009.

- Establish a range of inclusive and accessible means of ensuring that the experience of people who use and have used the service, along with that of groups that are known to be under-represented within it, shape the service in the following areas:
 - o Establishment.
 - Design/operating model.
 - Monitoring systems.
 - o Evaluation.
 - Review.
 - Future development.
 - Develop strong relationships with user organisations across the area.
 - Take advantage of the connections made with neighbourhood and community organisations/groups to ensure that the experience and needs of under-represented groups are gained and used to develop the service.

2.6.5 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

- Ensure that the service's access rates across all localities are fully representative of the diversity of the local populations across the area.
- Undertake full early capacity planning and demand modelling, and use it to drive the service's development.
- Provide locally-based IAPT interventions where everyone can receive a service within reach of where they live (or work) unless they expressly opt out, and/or opt into a variant (e.g. a group).
- Ensure that all locations where IAPT services are provided are near to main public transport routes/stops with appropriate parking adjacent.
- Make provision for one-off home visits on a session by session basis but only in those exceptional circumstances where a person absolutely cannot leave their accommodation by any reasonable means.
- Ensure that all locations that the service operates from are physically accessible and compliant with current access standards for all disabled people in relation to entry/egress, manoeuvre around the building, communications and toilet facilities.
- Offer multiple ways into the service (including formal referral pathways from professionals/services and self-referral).
- Offer flexibility of appointment times to fit around, for example work, childcare or caring responsibilities, public transport availability, mental health issues.
- Source venues that can be drawn upon when needed with crèche facilities in order to enable access by parents with young children.
- Understand, and take steps to address the impact of inequality, including socioeconomic disadvantage and poverty on people's ability to access the service.
- Overcome the particular barriers to accessing or engaging with the service that are known to be faced by people with learning disabilities.
- Adapt materials to be appropriate to different groups. This includes written communication and visually-based resources available for people who do not speak English as their first language and for people with learning disabilities.
- Implement both online and telephone based self-referral and associated triage, allowing people to sign up for wellbeing, self-help and self-management groups, courses, online options and other support instead of or before an IAPT assessment.

- Outreach to key neighbourhoods and communities promoting IAPT and its approach to good mental health and wellbeing also modelling the helpfulness of group learning/support.
- Seek out and use established and emerging practice guidance in order to support work on improving access.

2.6.6 Timeliness of service

The provider will:

- Develop an 'attendance and cancellation' policy that clearly locates responsibility for them with the service, and positively promotes engagement and attendance. This should include:
 - $\circ\,$ Clear explanations of the definitions of, and expectations in relation to attendance and non-attendance
 - acceptable notice periods to be provided for cancellation by service users and therapists.
 - Flexible guidance to manage both service user and therapist absences due to sickness, and their impact on courses of treatment.
- Use the IAPT Manual's guidance to maximise engagement and minimise waiting times.
- Be transparent with commissioners about the range of reasons for non-attendance and their mitigations.
- Ensure that therapists effectively use their time made available by patient nonattendance, and provide them with the IT equipment necessary to undertake administrative tasks (including updating appointments, writing notes and records).
- Have in place clear monitoring systems that will support learning and service development including the coding of attendance/non-attendance and cancellations.
- Exercise the principles of good capacity and waiting list management.
- Work within the NHS waiting time standard and apply it to those people who move from an IAPT waiting list in another CCG area to this service, ensuring that their total waiting time does not exceed 18 weeks.
- Minimise hidden waits within a course of treatment e.g. between assessment and the start of therapy, or the first and second appointment for a particular therapy.
- Have in place written pathways with senior clinical sign-off, with agreed waiting standards for assessment, first treatment and all subsequent treatments in line with national IAPT referral to treatment standards.
- Have clearly expressed and understood waiting list exceptionality the reasons why people in certain circumstances should bypass the waiting list. Parents in the perinatal period (pregnancy and in the child's first year) will always be an exception.

2.6.7 Interventions and therapies

- Use robust (evidence-based) clinical judgement about which treatment is most appropriate for each service user's presenting issues.
- Through the PHQ9 and GAD7 monitoring, work with commissioners to determine the most appropriate and efficient balance between mild-moderate and moderate-severe levels of need.
- Maintain an up to date knowledge of current best practice and of new treatments and their evidence base and implement, evaluate and review their effectiveness over the course of the contract.

- Understand that generic groups can present anxiety or inaccessibility for some people and types of issue, and hence provide a range of group and psychoeducational interventions. This will include specifically targeted approaches for particular groups or experiences (see <u>3.1.2</u>).
- Have, or be able to immediately draw on the necessary interpretation resources (including community and telephone services, 'community 'Link workers' etc) in order to ensure that therapies are conducted in the language chosen by the service user, bearing in mind the issues about interpreters (see <u>3.2.4.2</u>).
- Follow NICE guidelines where psychological interventions are delivered in combination with prescribed medications (see the IAPT Manual).
- Keep up to date with and procure digitally enabled therapies that are wellevidenced, of the highest quality, appropriately accredited and will meet service outcomes.
- Ensure that online and digitally-enabled therapy options are offered in a diverse range of community languages
- Using the principles of the FYFVMH, the growing body of evidence, and in collaboration with service users, source a wide range of digital and online therapy products that are chosen to meet both general and specific needs across the entire service.
- Positively promote digital and online therapy options to all, and specifically target them to the groups who are known to benefit most from, and prefer them.

2.6.8 Assessment

The provider will:

- Put in place a triage process that can help people get the right help early on and divert some from requiring a full assessment and IAPT service.
- Put in place a holistic person-centred assessment process to explore people's difficulties in the context of their self-defined goals, wider lives and other long-term health conditions (including learning disability/Autism Spectrum Disorder).
- Ensure that all assessors have the experience and skills to recommend the most appropriate intervention/treatment for each service user straight away in order to enable the best outcomes and avoid unnecessary re-presentation.
- Through robust and skilled assessment, ensure that individual therapies are available quickly to those with the greatest clinical need for them.
- Wherever possible/appropriate combine the first therapy session with the assessment.
- Ensure that, whatever medium the assessment is conducted in (telephone, VoIP, face to face etc, it offers the same level of skill, sensitivity and empathy).
- Have, or be able to immediately draw on the necessary interpretation resources (including community and telephone services, 'community 'Link workers' etc) in order to ensure that the assessment is conducted in the language chosen by the service user, bearing in mind the issues about interpreters (see <u>3.2.4.2</u>).
- Ensure that each person who has an assessment receives a package of interventions and external support most appropriate to the needs they present with.
- Integrate equality competence and understanding into the assessment process.
- Ensure that people with (all forms of) learning disability receive a skilled assessment that recognises and responds to their particular issues in relation to depression and anxiety.

2.6.9 Communications

The provider will:

- Communicate with its service users clearly and in a timely fashion in the format that they have indicated as their preference.
- Develop a consistent identity and message across the entire service (including all partners and subcontractors).
- Positively and confidently promote the service's range of treatment interventions
- Put out clear and consistent and applicable messages about the service, how it can improve wellbeing, what it is, what it offers, what is available and for whom.
- Ensure that sub-contractors, partners etc understand their role in the whole service and communicate it accurately.
- Ensure that potential referrers are well informed about the service, its remit and eligibility.
- Have an understanding of how inequality can impact communication styles and mediums e.g. using online and other forms of communication to reach different communities.
- Provide clear and welcoming outward-facing communications that positively and straightforwardly publicise all aspects of the service.
- Pay particular attention to:
 - The services' presentation and the impression it creates.
 - Directing publicity towards existing organisations over the area including developing co-location arrangements where venues are accessible – e.g. GP practices and 'community centres and hubs' etc.
 - Targeting advertising at the range of common places where people go, e.g. GP practices, libraries, leisure centers and gyms, faith communities, entertainment venues, shopping centers pubs etc.
 - Its communication methods (e.g. by telephone, electronically, face-to face, BSL) and use of social media.
 - Direct positive and tailored outreach into communities that are known to be under-represented.
 - Providing publicity in a range of accessible forms and formats using straightforward language.
 - Use of community languages and BSL in service delivery where spoken English is not the first language.
 - Linkages with surrounding mental health services.

2.6.10 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)

- In partnership with commissioners, undertake careful capacity planning to explore the extent of embedding staff in LTC pathways, and put in place a process for implementing the most effective and efficient ways of managing co-location and integration of IAPT and LTC/MUS pathways on a scale that will achieve best results.
- Work together with the LTC pathways (where IAPT staff are embedded) to jointly provide training to both the LTC and IAPT staff, in order to deliver the best integrated mental and physical health care.
- In partnership with commissioners, help to collate details of the clinical psychologists that are located within non-mental health secondary care LTC services and develop an understanding of when it may be more appropriate (and timely) for a referral to be made to them instead of IAPT.

- Work with and support existing condition-specific health care pathways through education resources and training programmes, to integrate a better understanding of mental health into their work.
- Provide self-management, issue-specific and generic psycho-educational courses, therapy and self-help/support groups, online treatments and resources that cross over conditions/pathways.

2.6.11 Younger people

The provider will:

- Ensure that staff undertaking interventions with younger people will:
 - Be trained to work with under 18 year olds.
 - Understand their developmental needs and the differences in presentation between children, young people and adults.
 - o Be aware of relevant legislation and safeguarding.
 - Use outcome measures validated for this age group.
- Adopt the necessary communication methods, publicity and interventions to achieve demographically appropriate representation of younger people (including from all groups with Protected Characteristics) across the entire service.
- Work jointly with Off The Record's counselling service (in Bristol and South Gloucestershire) to put in place thorough protocols covering referral, triage and assessment of young people, to ensure clarity about what each service can offer, differences and therapeutic boundaries, putting in place clear joint messages.
- Ensure that connections are made with young people's (care leavers') Personal Advisers in order to ensure proper connection with other provision they may be accessing.
- Forge strong connections with Kooth (in Bristol and North Somerset) including full information and links on the public-facing website and with Off the Record (or any other providers of services specialising in the support of young people over the course of the contract).
- Establish strong connections (with joint protocols) with further and higher education colleges across the area.

2.6.12 Older people

- Demonstrate access to the service by older people that is demographically representative of the local population.
- Promote the service to older people's groups as well as neighbourhood and community groups/organisations across BNSSG to ensure that the issues faced by older people are integrated into the service.
- Promote older people's access to, and treatment within the service is informed within the context of equality and equity (see <u>3.1.2</u>).
- Demonstrate that no lower expectations of sustained recovery are held of older people than others who use the service.
- Contribute to the training programmes of other healthcare professionals to increase identification rates of depression and anxiety amongst older people, and ensure that skills in working with older people forms part of ongoing CPD for IAPT staff.
- Conduct outreach to residential care homes, sheltered and Extra-Care Housing services in order that these older people with depression and anxiety are not inadvertently excluded by the service.

- Work with the Dementia service providers across BNSSG to establish good connections for referral pathways for people with dementia and their family members who experience depression and anxiety within the service's eligibility criteria.
- Engage with local implementation of the Dementia Strategy and Carers Strategy.
- Use the range of flexibility and focussed targeting/publicity options (see <u>3.1.2</u> and <u>3.2.2</u>) to enable the greatest access of older people.

2.6.13 Perinatal mental health

The provider will:

- Ensure full integration with, and collaboration between services in and connected with the perinatal mental health pathway. This will include the specialist community perinatal mental health services, voluntary sector organisations, Health Visitors and social care.
- Communicate clearly to midwives, health visitors and GPs and other referring professionals and agencies how they can get help quickly and how the service can work with this cohort of women.
- Ensure that parental mental health issues are captured at the first presentation to the service in order that parents with perinatal mental health issues (during pregnancy and in the child's first year who are experiencing mental health difficulties) can get help quickly i.e. are prioritised for assessment within 2 weeks of referral and commence treatment within 4 weeks.
- Offer a range of evidence-based individual and group interventions for this cohort of women, including specifically tailored low and high intensity packages that can adapt quickly to need and its impact.
- Pay attention and positively respond to the particular needs of women with young babies in relation to attending therapy e.g. ability to attend with their baby, providing crèche facilities.
- Offer one-off home visits on a session by session basis but only in those exceptional circumstances where a mother absolutely cannot leave her accommodation by any reasonable means.
- Offer support for the mental health needs of fathers, same sex parents and others in a partner/care-giver role in the perinatal period.

2.6.14 Learning disability (including Autism Spectrum Disorder - ASD)

The provider will:

- Work positively and proactively to develop referral pathways with associated information sharing and joint working protocols to and from learning disability services in the three local authority areas.
- (Referring to section 3.5.1) Ensure strong connections and protocols with primary care, (NHS) secondary mental health and secondary learning disability provision.
- Record the number of individuals accessing the service who have a learning disability.
- Work in partnership with learning disability services to increase their awareness of each other's services and skills in working with the cohort.

2.6.15 Sexual abuse and sexual violence

The provider will:

• Ensure that it can draw on skilled specialist therapists to provide interventions for people who have experienced childhood or adult sexual abuse and/or violence.

• Build robust referral pathways to and from the SARC and other local provision for people who have experienced sexual abuse and/or violence.

2.6.16 Psychosis, bipolar disorder and complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)

The provider will:

- Be clear about what interventions it can provide and their appropriateness to which presentations noting that people using secondary mental health services, and those with complex needs and personality disorders are entitled to access IAPT where it provides treatments appropriate to their eligible needs.
- Be clear about what other services (see <u>3.2.14.2</u>) across BNSSG for these cohorts can and cannot provide.
- At assessment, have an understanding of the particular presentations and needs of people with complex needs (who are identified as having a personality disorder), and the skills to recommend the most appropriate evidence-based treatment programme for them.
- Provide a range of evidence-based individual and group therapies to meet needs presenting to the service –including trauma-informed interventions specifically aimed at this cohort.
- Forge strong links with secondary mental health services through Primary Care Liaison (and the Complex Psychological Interventions (CPI) service in Bristol), in order to be clear about who the service can and cannot work with.
- Offer online, telephone, face to face and VoIP-based (voice/video over the internet) means of access.
- Provide appropriately designed self-help resources for these cohorts.
- Ensure that, from referral and assessment, these groups have the same access to the external referral pathways in relation to support for socio-economic, housing/homelessness/long term health conditions/etc.
- Through the assessment and review processes, collect data (where possible) on the unmet needs of people with a PD and report to commissioners.
- Connect with CCG work undertaken over the course of the contract to develop a PD pathway over BNSSG and ensure its full integration into the service to increase access and recovery of this cohort.
- Seek advice from secondary services as appropriate, on the potential benefits and/or risks of IAPT therapies for these cohorts.

2.6.17 Employment and job retention support

- Ensure that the service maintains a strong recognition of people's right to work and of the support they might need to maintain their employment through their use of IAPT.
- Develop referral pathways/protocols to and from existing national and local agencies that support disabled people (including people with mental health difficulties) to find or remain in work.
- Establish specialist employment advisor posts embedded in teams who can quickly capture live employment issues that have impacted on service users' presentations of anxiety and depression, intervening at any stage from referral and complementing therapists' work. They will:
 - Promote an awareness of employment (and unemployment) throughout the service, supporting therapists to understand how it might impact upon their clients.

- Use job retention support skills, working with the employee and their employer to prevent job loss.
- Work directly with individuals to establish basic job search goals and work on connecting people into job search programmes or employment support.
- Provide person-centred support to assist people to set and meet their own employment-related goals.
- Connect with Local Authority led programmes promoting mental health in workplaces and work to counter stigma and discrimination.

2.6.18 Poverty, debt and benefits advice

The provider will:

- Develop robust connections with referral protocols to welfare rights and debt advice services across the area.
- Recognise and refer people (to appropriate local services) who present with a financial difficulty either instead of, or concurrently with psychological therapies.

2.6.19 Housing and homelessness

The provider will:

- Publicise itself clearly to homelessness services across the area to promote understanding of IAPT, its purpose, remit and eligibility.
- Establish robust connections and clear referral protocols to and from the three local housing departments and homelessness services/pathways.
- Shape the service in relation to new housing developments across the area, understanding the associated demographics and prevalence of depression and anxiety.
- Record the number of individuals accessing the service who are also homeless or in homeless pathways accommodation.

2.6.20 Tobacco Cessation & Harm Reduction

The provider will:

- Ensure that service users who smoke are:
 - Offered brief advice and brief intervention⁷ in accordance with NICE guidance quality standards⁸ and related guidance including smokers with COPD⁹; and pregnant women who smoke.¹⁰

And/or

- \circ $\;$ Referred/signposted to local smoking cessation interventions.
- Work collaboratively with local Public Health teams and smoking cessation services to support their delivery of smoking cessation/harm reduction.

⁷ <u>Smoking: brief interventions and referrals. NICE Public health guideline [PH1]. (QoF SMOK 001/002).</u>

⁸ Smoking: supporting people to stop. NICE Quality standard [QS43]. (QoF SMOK 003/004/005).

⁹ <u>Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in over 16s: diagnosis and management. NICE</u> <u>Clinical guideline [CG101].</u>

¹⁰ Smoking: stopping in pregnancy and after childbirth. NICE Public health guideline [PH26].

- Nominate a proportion of PWP staff to receive the initial 2 day smoking cessation advisor training and subsequently attend at least one update session per year in accordance with NICE guidance (NG92)¹¹ and quality standards¹².
- Provide monthly data electronically (for example via Quit Manager www.bristolquitmanager.co.uk in Bristol).
- Actively promote tobacco control campaigns and provide advice including on smokefree homes and vehicles to prevent harm to children and young people from secondhand smoke. (A training module is available from Bristol Public Health (Health Improvement Team) or via the National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training¹³).
- Support and engage with innovative research proposals that support the tobacco cessation/harm reduction agenda at a local level (e.g. the current IAPT research at the University of Bristol), and where they evidence particular efficacy, integrate them into the service.

2.6.21 Substance misuse

The provider will:

- Work positively and proactively to develop referral pathways with associated information sharing and joint working protocols to and from substance misuse services in the three local authority areas.
- Ensure that IAPT eligibility is not restricted for people using alcohol or drugs through access thresholds, including those based on methadone dosage and requirements of periods of abstinence.
- Take appropriate steps to overcome any barriers to accessing or engaging with the service, recognising that people with coexisting mental health and substance misuse needs are at higher risk of not using, or losing contact with services.
- Record the number of individuals accessing the service who also have a substance misuse need.
- Work in partnership with substance misuse services to increase their awareness of each other's services and skills in working with the cohort.

2.6.22 People in contact with the criminal justice system

The provider will:

- Ensure that it has (or can quickly draw on) understanding of the issues in relation to, and competence in working with offenders.
- Ensure that service users are concurrently connected with other areas of help as necessary e.g. housing and homelessness, substance misuse services.
- Demonstrate demographically appropriate levels of access to the service by this cohort of people.

2.6.23 Serving and ex-serving armed forces personnel

The provider will:

• Understand the demographic profile of the local population and promote access through self-referral or charities as veterans may not be registered with GPs.

¹¹ Stop smoking interventions and services. NICE guideline [NG92].2018.

¹² Smoking: supporting people to stop. NICE Quality standard [QS43]. (QoF SMOK 003/004/005).

¹³ <u>http://www.ncsct.co.uk/publication_secondhand-smoke-training-module.php</u>

2.6.24 Primary and Secondary mental health interface

The provider will:

- Be aware of the different mental health provision across the BNSSG area at both primary and secondary levels, and keep up to date with developments and changes.
- Have a clear understanding of the remit of, and eligibility for secondary mental health services and refer to secondary mental health providers across BNSSG where appropriate to meet specific service user need.
- Confidently communicate (to other professionals and to service users) the nature of the service, its structure, remit and eligibility.
- Establish clear protocols for routes to and from secondary services, including the ability to refer directly in (particularly in relation to crisis services). Work with Primary Care Liaison services to influence secondary care allocations.
- Record the referrals from primary and secondary care, their appropriateness and whether/the extent to which the service was able to meet their needs.
- Play an active role in CCG discussions along with service users about the interface between primary and secondary care.
- Ensure that service users understand their position in the service and its relationship to other provision in order to support realistic expectations.

2.6.25 Workforce, education and training

- Promote an open and welcoming culture to recruit a workforce that is representative
 of the local population across the area through recruitment exercises, positive and
 welcoming advertising/publicity, skill-mixing and offering training placements and
 apprenticeships.
- Follow and understand the changing demographics and proactively outreach to particular neighbourhoods and communities who are typically under-represented in the workforce (including BAME/cultural, LGBTQ+, Deaf people, older and disabled people, neighbourhoods with high socio-economic disadvantage).
- Ensure that all staff working in the system (employed by the lead provider and any partner or subcontracted organisations) understand the service ethos and how the approach impacts on their practice.
- Recruit all staff on the basis of their knowledge of and competency in equality and the integration of the social determinants of mental health alongside their profession/specialism/role.
- Recruit bi/multi-lingual clinicians who speak the languages of local minority groups, including fluency in British Sign Language (BSL).
- Ensure that the staff who undertake assessments are appropriately trained to be able to explore people's difficulties in a holistic context of their wider lives and other long-term health conditions (including learning disability/Autism Spectrum Disorder).
- Provide ongoing CPD to build capability and competence in the workforce, including cultural competence.
- Ensure a (clinical and non-clinical) workforce that is representative of the local population, proactively addressing under-representation and inequitable distribution throughout the service's structure (e.g. so that BAME/disabled staff are not only in unqualified posts).
- Connect regularly with clinical and other networks that have a remit for quality improvement.

- Create a resilient, thriving and supportive workforce through promoting staff wellbeing, nurturing high aspirations and encouraging high levels of retention.
- Demonstrate staff retention levels (across the whole service) that exceed national average levels in IAPT services.
- Put in place a range of development opportunities in order that people can progress their careers in the service.
- Seek opportunities to put in place shared (jointly funded/located) posts and other ways of ensuring integration.

2.6.26 Applicable standards set out in Guidance and/or issued by a competent body (eg Royal Colleges)

The provider will:

- Fully integrate the expectations and guidance of the IAPT Manual and associated Positive Practice Guides into the service delivery.
- Fully integrate the RCP's 'Quality Standards for Psychological Therapies Services' as the basis for clinical quality.
- Use other current good practice guidance, national policy, research and evidence to assist in driving service development and delivery where it complements the IAPT Manual and Positive Practice Guides.
- Understand and work with numerous tensions and conflicts inherent in delivering the service.
- Ensure connection with core national, regional and local networks where new thinking, research and good practice guidance are shared and accordingly stay up to date with developments.
- Maintain an interest in developing thinking and evidence on the social determinants of poor physical and mental health and ensure that the service learns from them.

3. Scope

3.1 Aims and objectives of service

3.1.1 Service ethos

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.1.3 Co-production and user involvement
- 3.2.1 Delivery model
- 3.2.7 Communications
- 3.2.11 Perinatal mental health
- 3.2.12 Learning disability (including Autism Spectrum Disorder ASD)
- 3.2.13 Sexual abuse and sexual violence
- 3.2.14 Psychosis, bipolar disorder and complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)
- 3.2.15 Employment and job retention support
- 3.2.16 Poverty, debt and benefits advice
- 3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support
- 3.6 Workforce, education and training

3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

3.1.1.1 The social determinants of mental health

The Marmot Review (2010) starkly demonstrated the social determinants of mental and physical health. The connections between poverty, unemployment and social isolation with depression and anxiety are high. Poor mental health can be caused or worsened by other issues in people's lives such as unemployment, poverty, debt, social isolation and lack of friendships/relationships, poor housing, domestic violence, bereavement, poor physical health/wellbeing, being inactive or having a long-term health condition. These factors can all impact on depression and anxiety and on the need for IAPT (either as a single service or in combination with other interventions).

'The social determinants of mental health—exemplified here by income inequality and poor education—are understood as being underpinned by unequal distribution of opportunity and, more deeply, by public policies (e.g., legislation that may not specifically pertain to health but ultimately has far-reaching effects on health) and social norms (e.g., cultural opinions and biases that set the stage for poorer health among disadvantaged groups).' (Compton & Shim, 2015)¹⁴

This suggests that the risks of not taking a connected holistic approach to providing psychological therapies are far greater than any perceived risks inherent in giving IAPT a wider focus. It is therefore essential that people coming into this IAPT service do not have these other important issues inadvertently ignored through the service focussing on their mental health difficulties in isolation, or it not having the right external contacts to refer people for other help.

Commissioners have therefore taken an innovative and positive new approach that locates the mandated IAPT interventions (as specified in the IAPT Manual), within the wider social/cultural/health/economic/relational context in which the service and its users exist.

It is expected that, through a strong outward-focus and connections to a wide range of existing external provision (funded by the local authorities etc), the clinical IAPT interventions will be supported to meet their outcomes and maximize effectiveness and sustainability within limited resources.

In IAPT terms, recovery is only achievable through the provision of NICE approved psychological therapies/treatments. The examples below show how linkages with other provision can work with IAPT:

- For some, generally those who score below caseness, external (socio-economic and other) interventions may help divert them from IAPT treatments.
- This specification expects that for those at caseness, external interventions should be referred to alongside IAPT.
- A combined assessment and first therapy session (including GAD7 and PHQ9 measurements), with a course of external support under IAPT supervision and a final set of scores can count towards recovery.

By supporting people to tackle the external causes of their anxiety or depression, it is expected that, for some, therapy may not be necessary and people are diverted from it, while for others, therapy alongside associated support, such as job retention or encouragement to be more physically active, will reinforce its effectiveness.

For example:

- Somebody who is socially isolated after a bereavement might receive therapy which addresses the loss, but not the isolation. A concurrent social prescribing service addresses the isolation while therapy helps work on the bereavement.
- Somebody who is at risk of losing their employment due to depression and receives an IAPT service, may lose their job while having treatment. A concurrent 'job retention' service alongside the therapy helps hold onto the employment and supports a fast progress back to work.

¹⁴ Compton, M.T. Shim, R.S. The Social Determinants of Mental Health. Focus. 2015.

• Somebody presenting with anxiety due to high levels of debt, may receive therapy to address the anxiety, however, without referral to appropriate debt advice/management, the cause of the anxiety is not addressed and the therapy is unlikely to be effective.

3.1.1.2 Learning

Our evidence review uncovered no other IAPT service that is holistically focussed and that overtly integrates the social determinants of health, despite the evidence of the connection of socio-economic factors with poor mental health. The lack of direct evidence for their connections to IAPT interventions reveals the absence of such services and an associated lack of research. It is therefore essential that this service measures itself well and is fully evaluated by an independent academic body with a wide contextual understanding of mental health.

The provider will be expected to pilot, test and develop their practice across the area and in relation to the various populations and demographics. A small portion (at least 2%) of the financial envelope will be allocated as a ringfenced 'innovation fund' specifically for development of practice in relation to this ethos through testing/piloting and measurement of new models of practice.

3.1.2 Equality and equity

Links to key sections:

- 2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development
- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.3 Co-production and user involvement
- 3.2.1 Delivery model
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies
- 3.2.5 Assessment
- 3.2.6 Recovery
- 3.2.7 Communications
- 3.2.9 Younger people
- 3.2.10 Older people
- 3.2.11 Perinatal mental health
- 3.2.12 Learning disability (including Autism Spectrum Disorder ASD)
- 3.2.13 Sexual abuse and sexual violence
- 3.2.14 Psychosis, bipolar disorder and complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)
- 3.2.15 Employment and job retention support
- 3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support
- 3.6 Workforce, education and training
- 3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

Equality, equity, fairness and the principles of social inclusion will underpin this service. While this section lays out commissioners' wider expectations in terms of ethos, the expectations of their practical implementation are integrated into the sections below. There will inevitably be duplications, for example many issues apply to access, communications, treatments offered and the workforce. Note that specific outcomes will be set in each of these areas.

3.1.2.1 Background

The IAPT Manual states that:

1. Services should be inclusive and actively promote equality, with consideration given to protected characteristics as defined by the Equality Act 2010¹⁵, and their duties to reduce health inequalities as set out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012.¹⁶

2. Service design and communications should be appropriate and accessible to meet the needs of diverse communities. Services should also publish information in a way that enables the public to judge how they aim to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different groups.

3. At the heart of the NHS Constitution is equality and fairness – everyone has an equal right to access and benefit from NHS services. No one group is exempt from depression or anxiety disorders. Therefore, demand for evidence-based therapies remains high across all communities.

4. The provider needs to understand the prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders within the local population to extend the reach of their services more effectively. Some groups have a higher prevalence of depression, or anxiety disorders. Other groups may have proportionately lower levels of identification rates, despite high need.¹⁷

The Public sector Equality Duty:

The main Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) is comprised of three limbs (more commonly referred to as areas/ sections), set out in section 149(1) of the Equality Act 2010 ("the Act"):

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

It is anticipated that this recommissioning programme will play a part in reducing health inequalities across groups who have protected characteristics through addressing their common mental health difficulties more holistically within the wider context of an understanding of the social determinants of poor mental health.

3.1.2.2 Key issues and tensions:

• The issue of choice (of venue, therapist, therapy, area etc) has a particular relevance for people from groups and communities that tend to be inadvertently excluded and therefore under-represented in services. Issues of stigma, safety, cultural competence, languages spoken, type of therapies offered, accessibility of venue/therapies, all have a particular and additional impact on the ability to access

¹⁵ Equality Act 2010.

¹⁶ Health and Social Care Act 2012.

¹⁷ We still need to talk: a report on access to talking therapies. Mind. 2013.

or sustain engagement with an intervention, achieve recovery or even trust the service.

- There are some experiences and circumstances that, in themselves, may require the service to respond by providing a therapist who shares the person's particular characteristic for example, women who have experienced domestic abuse or rape. Additionally, there will be occasions when someone with a protected characteristic requests to see a therapist who either shares their background, or does not due to concerns about confidentiality within smaller/close-knit communities. It might be that, the most appropriate service for 16 & 17 year olds, would be to be supported by an organisation that specialises in work with children and young people. While the service should have a workforce diverse enough to be able to broadly honour such requests in a timely fashion, depending upon the specificity of the request, it may not always be able to respond to it precisely due to workforce constraints. In such circumstances there must be a clear communication with the service user to explore what might be offered.
- While groups and courses must be promoted as key forms of intervention, mixed groups can be inaccessible for people for whom spoken English is not the first language (including Deaf BSL users). In these circumstances, the effectiveness of group interventions may only be realised through language-specific groups as therapy conducted through single or multiple interpreters can be problematic/confusing and not help engagement. However it is also undesirable to put people together merely because of the language they speak.
- However diverse the workforce, it is unlikely that every community will be represented amongst the available trained therapists. The service will need to demonstrate high levels of competence and awareness of all equality issues across its staff team to be able to provide an appropriate service to everyone.
- It is common for staff who have protected characteristics to be overtly or inadvertently channelled into equalities work or specifically with people who share their own backgrounds. While some staff may wish to specialize in work with people who share their specific experience, it should not be an expectation that they will or should. The right of staff from all groups with protected characteristics to fully develop their careers must be upheld and can conflict with the service's ability to offer the choice that some may wish for.
- While there are IAPT Positive Practice¹⁸ and other guides that must inform the service's practice, it must also be understood that many people's needs are multilayered – e.g. an older Asian woman with learning difficulties will have experiences and face discrimination in all these areas. The provider will need to hold a wider understanding of equalities and the impact of 'intersectionality'.

3.1.3 Co-production and user involvement

- Links to key related sections:
- 2.2 National outcomes
- 2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development
- 2.5 Local defined outcomes
- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

3.1.3.1 Background

¹⁸ IAPT Positive Practice Guides.

It is essential that the experiences of anxiety and depression, and of using IAPT services are positively and thoroughly drawn on in the establishment, design, monitoring, evaluation, review and future development of this service. Therefore clear mechanisms and structures need to be put in place that enable co-production in all these aspects and stages of the service.

Commissioners expect that user involvement through a wide range of co-production processes is used as a key means of the service achieving better outcomes in all aspects of its delivery.

3.1.3.2 Key issues and tensions:

- IAPT is intended to be a brief and impactful intervention in people's lives that supports and enables their social inclusion and recovery. Any means of user involvement that are developed must not encourage a longer term identification of those users as 'IAPT user'. The establishment of a range of means of gaining feedback, consulting and involvement that are unobtrusive in people's wider lives will mitigate this.
- Commitment to co-production and user involvement can attract levels of mistrust as it can be an insubstantial concept without clarity and agreement.
- Co-production requires work from all parties to establish how the partnership will operate and how users can be involved in ways that are accessible and non-tokenistic.
- Service users often either bring high levels of skill and/or experience to coproduction/involvement work, or develop them through it. Some providers offer positive opportunities for involvement to be externally acknowledged and accredited, and the skills provided to be recognised through, for example, employment references, traineeships, work experience etc.

Note on outcomes:

User involvement is not an outcome in itself, but a means to achieve better outcomes in all aspects of the service. There are therefore no specific outcomes for this section, but rather clear requirements of the provider.

3.2 Service description/care pathway

3.2.1 Delivery model

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

Key of technical definitions and abbreviations

This specification covers provision of a single IAPT service across the BNSSG area.

NHS Bristol, North Somerset & South Gloucestershire CCG will contract to a lead provider organisation which will:

- Provide a single consistent approach to IAPT in BNSSG, where, regardless of their address, people have the same ways in to, pathways through and range of treatments on offer from the service.
- Be able to use and create flexible resources within the system.

- Take a cross-area overview in order to understand patterns, demographics, successes and difficulties and be able to implement changes across the whole service based on the learning.
- Draw on external specialist services and resources from across the area when they are needed.
- Use an outward-focussed holistic approach to promote social inclusion and sustainment of IAPT recovery outcomes.

The ethos of this service is outward-focused and understands service users holistically (in terms of their wider lives), and is rooted in the principles of equality.

A great deal of expertise and skill exists across the area through key local voluntary sector organisations which the IAPT service should draw upon to provide the best outcomes, in particular for under-represented groups and for specific therapeutic specialisms. Including the following:

- Local neighbourhood knowledge and connections.
- Equality community connection, understanding and competency.
- Refugee issues and support.
- Health inequalities.
- Issue-based specialisms.
- Skilled therapeutic approaches.

And it is essential that the lead provider can draw upon these to support its delivery.

The single lead provider will be responsible for:

- The management, learning and improvement of the whole service.
- Collection of all data using the provider's IT solutions.
- Whole service monitoring and evaluation.
- Directly reporting on national data to NHS England and KPIs to local commissioners for performance management.
- The 'front door' of the service communications, referral processes, the holistic assessment, allocation to therapists and pathways.
- The management, accountability and monitoring of partnership and sub-contractual arrangements/relationships and performance.
- Forging/maintaining connections with the various leads for a range of referral pathways and linked service areas.
- Working with partners in the health system to take account of the wider determinants of mental health when delivering care for any given individual.
- Engaging with local mental health forum/partnerships to ensure IAPT is embedded in local strategic approaches to improving mental health.
- Staff management and development.

3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

Links to key related sections:

- 2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.1.3 Co-production and user involvement
- 3.2.3 Timeliness of service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies

- 3.2.6 Recovery
- 3.2.7 Communications
- 3.2.8 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)
- 3.2.9 Younger people
- 3.2.10 Older people
- 3.2.11 Perinatal mental health
- 3.2.12 Learning disability (including Autism Spectrum Disorder ASD)
- 3.2.13 Sexual abuse and sexual violence
- 3.2.14 Psychosis, bipolar disorder and complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)
- 3.2.15 Employment and job retention support
- 3.2.17 Housing and homelessness
- 3.2.19 Substance misuse
- 3.2.20 People in contact with the criminal justice system
- 3.2.21 Serving and ex-serving armed forces personnel
- 3.4.1 Acceptance criteria
- 3.4.2 Exclusions
- 3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

3.2.2.1 Background

All IAPT services must demonstrate an increase in access rates as well as in equity of access for those individuals and groups who are known to be currently under-represented in IAPT services (see 3.1.2).

The IAPT Manual and Positive Practice Guides provide a strong basis from which the provider must draw. The issues below highlight some of the tensions and the important factors that the provider will need to address.

IAPT services are intended to reach and be accessible to all eligible people. In practice this means placing an emphasis on those who are likely to be at 'caseness' (see Key of technical definitions and abbreviations), in order that they count towards meeting access targets and so that their improvements will support mandated recovery levels. However, there are many people who, although not reaching caseness, nonetheless have a level of difficulty that the service should usefully address in order to prevent future deterioration and re-presentation with greater levels of need. The service should therefore offer early online and group psycho-educational/self-help interventions to those people with levels of mental health need that are below the threshold.

While the service needs to continually increase its overall access rates, there are a number of groups with specific needs and characteristics that are typically under-represented in IAPT and whose poor mental health impacts on other aspects of their lives.

The provider will need to integrate an equality approach into the delivery of the service, recognising that a significant proportion of work on access/accessibility, if thoughtfully and sensitively applied, will improve access generally. It is important that the service understands both the similar and different issues of accessibility experienced by people from neighbourhoods with high levels of deprivation and from the range of groups with Protected Characteristics (under the Equality Act 2010) many of whom are also generally under-represented within IAPT services. They will need to understand commonality of experience and that many people fit into more than one equalities category and therefore experience multiple barriers.

The IAPT Manual and Positive Practice Guides clearly present steps that providers must take towards delivering an accessible service that attracts people from all communities and

specifically addresses the issues of those groups that are typically under-represented in services.

From 1st August 2016 onwards, all organisations that provide NHS care and / or publiclyfunded adult social care are legally required to follow the Accessible Information Standard. The Standard sets out a specific, consistent approach to identifying, recording, flagging, sharing and meeting the information and communication support needs of patients, service users, carers and parents with a disability, impairment or sensory loss.^{19 20}

3.2.2.2 Key issues and tensions:

- People's access to services can be influenced by a range of factors that support or hinder their engagement.
- The extent to which a service takes steps to demonstrate its intent to welcome access from all communities critically influences public trust in it.
- Preferences for different methods of communication (see <u>3.2.7</u>) and of delivering therapies (see <u>3.2.4</u>) vary significantly across neighbourhoods, communities, age groups.
- The desire and need for IAPT services to be locally accessible and the managing of capacity across a wide geographical area.
- In areas of high socio-economic deprivation, some people may not be used to travelling outside their neighbourhoods which needs to be understood in relation to location and take-up of the service.
- Choice of appointment times can challenge the location and consistency of premises.
- Some people will require a home visit if they are unable to leave their accommodation. While home visits can support some people's ability to access the service and lead to greater inclusion, they can also maintain others' social isolation and a failure to provide them with appropriate mobility assistance (see <u>3.2.10</u> and <u>3.2.11</u>).
- All surgeries in a GP cluster may not be easily accessible to service users without their own transport, and therefore attention must be paid to the location of those uses.
- Due to a more diffuse population in rural areas, filling groups and courses can be challenging. This can cause difficulties in accessibility of location.
- Both the availability of rooms and their market rental costs in GP practices can influence the locations of local spaces available to the service
- The length of the assessment and of sessions, if flexibly administered around the needs of each client, can provide a more person-centred service while supporting the service's efficiency.

3.2.3 Timeliness of service

Links to key related sections:

- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.5 Assessment
- 3.2.6 Recovery

3.2.3.1 Key issues and tensions:

¹⁹ Accessible Information Standard Specification. NHS England. 2017.

²⁰ Accessible Information Standard Implementation Guidance. NHS England. 2017.

- There is a range of factors and dynamics that need to be understood and worked with and that can impact waiting times together with their potential mitigations, including:
 - \circ Making use of preventative 'upstream' interventions to divert from assessments.
 - Use of the range of socio-economic referrals to divert from, and/or support step two and three therapies.
 - Offering a high quality assessment.
 - Offering courses and groups positively and confidently as key interventions.
 - o Offering a wide range of digital and online means of engagement with IAPT.
 - Having confidence in its clinical judgement about what works best for different presentations and in what the service will offer and how it can help.
 - Flexibility in the length of interventions offered.
 - Operating flexibly enough to ensure that therapists' cancellation of appointments do not result in the service user's treatment programme being shortened.
- Mental health services typically experience high rates of non-attendance, and service user groups challenge a culture that is experienced as locating responsibility for 'DNAs' with service users. A systemic understanding of attendance and promotion of it would be expected to foster a different relationship to engagement and attendance of the service.

Please see the NHSE Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Waiting Time Guidance and FAQs for further information.²¹

3.2.4 Interventions and therapies

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.5 Assessment
- 3.2.6 Recovery
- 3.2.8 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)
- 3.2.13 Sexual abuse and sexual violence
- 3.2.15 Employment and job retention support
- 3.2.17 Housing and homelessness
- 3.2.19 Substance misuse
- 3.2.20 People in contact with the criminal justice system
- 3.2.21 Serving and ex-serving armed forces personnel
- 3.3 Population covered conditions treated by IAPT
- 3.6 Workforce, education and training
- 3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

3.2.4.1 Background

²¹ Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Waiting Time Guidance and FAQs. NHS England. 2015.

A full list of current NICE-recommended psychological therapies for the conditions treated by IAPT services can be found in the IAPT Manual and in the table below.

Average therapist time per patient can be reduced by using an empirically validated digital therapy programme, and this is likely to have a positive impact on waiting times.

The IAPT Manual clarifies that IAPT provides evidence-based psychological therapies for mild, moderate *and severe* depression and anxiety disorders. Treatment of people with moderate to severe depression, when appropriate, is important because such individuals are particularly likely to experience a marked reduction in disability and have their lives transformed as a result.

3.2.4.2 Key issues and tensions:

- From the experience of the previous services across BNSSG, and from the engagement and consultation process leading to the commissioning of this service, it is evident that there is a high expectation of individual one-to-one (face to face) therapy.
- While one-to-one therapy is neither the only or (in many cases) the most appropriate intervention to treat the levels of depression and anxiety that are presented to the service, the take-up and experience of group based treatments has been poor. IAPT services are not able to provide one-to-one therapies to all those who want them, and so the widespread desire for one-to-one, along with the apparent mistrust of and anxiety about groups must be addressed within the service model.
- Demand for a service requires interpretation, and may result more from the messages that prevail about the solutions to psychological difficulties than the level of need in the area
- Mental health difficulties and the solutions for them are not necessarily best understood or treated as separable or requiring a serial response. Rather, a concurrent response acknowledges the multi-faceted nature of people's experience and demonstrates the recognition that the clinical IAPT service functions within a wider arena of provision that it can work in partnership with to achieve sustained recovery and cross-system improvement.
- The IAPT Manual highlights the discrepancy between the common misconception that IAPT services are only for people with mild to moderate depression and anxiety, and the reality that they are also intended to treat (and are successfully treating) people with moderate to severe depression and anxiety. The latest IAPT annual report (2016/17) indicates that the initial average severity of IAPT scores was on the borderline between mild-moderate and moderate-severe with little variability between CCGs and therefore that people with moderate to severe depression are being treated across all IAPT services.
- Fears about starting therapy are common, particularly so for joining a group. Individual therapy can represent a 'safer place' for some people than a group might at first appear (e.g. women who have experienced domestic abuse or rape, refugees, people who have been sexually abused). However, in such (and other) circumstances, groups of people who share a similar experience can very positively provide a supportive environment to achieve better outcomes.
- Therapy should be conducted in the first (or preferred) language of the service user and for people for whom spoken English is not their first language, this will be most likely through an interpreter unless there are therapists available (in the service or through subcontractual arrangements) with the particular language skills required. However, therapy conducted through an interpreter can be problematic: an interpreter can skew the therapeutic relationship by placing a distance between therapist and client; the nuances of the process can be lost; a third party is involved in a person's (personal) therapeutic experience and, for people from relatively small and close-knit communities, members of those communities (as an interpreter) are involved in a person's therapy.

• A number of groups of people will present to the service with high levels of trauma. Refugees and asylum-seekers may have fled the most extreme traumatic experiences. Their impact and potential efficacious treatments in the context of trauma-informed approaches will be needed.

3.2.4.3 Digital and online therapies/engagement

The IAPT Manual states:

'Digitally-enabled therapy is psychological therapy that is provided via the internet with the support of a clinician. There is evidence to show that these therapies can achieve comparable outcomes to face-to-face therapy, when the same therapy content is delivered in an online format that allows much of the learning to be achieved through patient self-study, reinforced and supported by a suitably trained clinician.'

However, online therapies can have a negative reception (from some service users and therapists) perhaps due to early judgements about particular online 'computerised' products resulting in a continued perception of being monolithic. The reality is that the range of 'digitally-enabled' therapies is wide including online text-based therapy with a therapist and therapy delivered through VoIP (voice/video over the internet e.g. SKYPE, FaceTime).

There are other ways that digital technology can assist IAPT to deliver its outcomes, including a wide range of online self-help and self-management resources and support,

While antipathy towards it remains, there is increasing evidence that digitally-enabled therapies are preferred by a growing range of people. For example younger people generally like text-based online therapies and people of all ages who cannot easily/accessibly get to a service or who live in rural areas respond very positively to VoIP based therapy. While the concerns of those who are critical of digitally-enabled therapies suggest that they should be offered as a choice and positively publicised rather than imposed, their effectiveness (both to individuals and to the system) cannot be ignored.

The range, scope and quality of the available digital and online therapies will expand over the course of this contract and if choices and associated investments are made too longterm, the service could find itself trapped in delivery contracts that it later regrets.

3.2.4.4 Assumptions

The following assumptions have been made:

- Early intervention (to psycho-social, psycho-educational and self-help options) and other (existing external) support (e.g. debt, unemployment, social isolation, long-term conditions, and substance misuse) can divert a number of people from needing IAPT therapies.
- Through having other associated difficulties addressed, the type/intensity and/or length of intervention for some people will reduce, and the positive outcomes will be sustained.
- A positive presentation of, and increase in group work, courses and online therapies take pressure off the perceived superiority of/need for one-to-one therapy and ensure that the intensive interventions are available more quickly to those people who require them most.
- Through establishing clarity in relation to attendance, the level of choice of therapy/therapist/re-entry offered, waiting time management etc, considerable service efficiencies can be realised.

3.2.4.5 Indicative service pathway/treatments

Below is an indicative pathway through the service listing a range of interventions at each step.

N.B. The 'step-care' approach should not necessarily indicate a fixed sequential process through treatment. Rather, good assessment should establish if someone needs to go straight from assessment to step-3. However, it is important that no matter what the level

of people's difficulties, they have access to self-management and self-help options and concurrent referral to other sources of help from elsewhere.

Early intervention/prevention -enabling diversion from IAPT:

Self-help and self-management information resources.

Signposting and referral pathways to other services providing support for issues that might be associated with the anxiety/depression.

Psycho-educational courses.

Step-1

A holistic assessment/first treatment understanding the clinical need along with its social determinants.

Psycho-social interventions (individually/in groups).

Self-help/management and support groups.

Referral to other socio-economic, employment, social prescribing housing/homelessness etc services.

Referral to other health services.

Referral to secondary mental health services.

Online self-help programmes.

Referral to job retention or employment support.

Step-2

Self-help and individual guided self-help (CBT).

Computerised CBT.

Behavioural Activation.

Structured group physical activity programmes.

Psycho-educational groups.

Concurrent referral to other pathways that address other issues that are causing/worsening the depression/anxiety.

Concurrent referral to, or joint work with, other health pathways.

Employment or job retention support.

Step-3

Group and individual CBT and IPT.

Behavioural Activation.

Couple therapy.

Counselling for depression.

Brief psychodynamic therapy.

Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy.

Applied relaxation.

Trauma-focussed CBT.

Eye movement desensitisation and reprocessing.

CBT (for social anxiety disorder).

CBT (including exposure and response prevention).

Graded exercise therapy.

Combined physical and psychological interventions (for chronic pain).

Employment or job retention support.

Concurrent referral to other pathways that address other issues that are causing/worsening the depression/anxiety.

Concurrent referral to, or joint work with, other health pathways.

3.2.5 Assessment

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.3 Timeliness of service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies
- 3.2.6 Recovery
- 3.2.8 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)
- 3.2.11 Perinatal mental health
- 3.2.14 Psychosis, bipolar disorder and complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)
- 3.2.15 Employment and job retention support
- 3.2.16 Poverty, debt and benefits advice
- 3.4.2 Exclusions
- 3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

3.2.5.1 Background

This service ethos places central importance on the service being outward focussed and able to understand people's 'clinical need' in the context of the wide range of other socioeconomic, relational, health and cultural factors that are present in their lives. The IAPT Manual also emphasises the need for a strong 'person-centred' focus to the assessment. Person-centred care²² supports people to develop the knowledge, skills and confidence they need to more effectively manage and make informed decisions about their own health and health care.

The assessment is key in ensuring that in a brief amount of time, enough of the right information is gathered about each person to be able to offer them the right treatments/interventions. Incomplete or poor assessments lead to inappropriate treatment plans and people returning for further treatments or poor recovery rates.

The outward-looking ethos of this service requires a holistic assessment that understands psychological issues in the wider context in which they exist. A wholly clinical assessment will not be sufficient to gain such an understanding of each person and could lead to failure to pick up on important factors that influence or cause the presenting issue.

Data analysis has shown that significant numbers of people return to IAPT on a regular basis, often receiving repeated treatments at steps two and three. It is expected that a strong holistic assessment, undertaken by a skilled and experienced staff member, will allow the most appropriate treatment to be identified and delivered swiftly. A critical component of this is that the range of interventions on offer are understood and confidently presented, in conjunction with an integrated understanding of the range of potential referral pathways to other services.

Everyone who reaches the assessment stage will have a holistic person-centred assessment by a skilled member of staff. The assessment will direct each person to referral pathways covering a range of provision including employment and socio-economic support,

²² Person-centred care made simple. The Health Foundation. 2014.

social prescribing services and long-term physical health pathways, instead of, or concurrently with, one or more IAPT interventions.

The former South Gloucestershire CCG commissioned the University of Chester²³ to undertake a pilot, researching the efficacy of providing a longer combined IAPT assessment and first therapy session provided by a more highly trained therapist than was typical. While the pilot was small scale, it did find that the approach reduced both the need for subsequent sessions and the number of those sessions. The research is made available to the provider and they can use it as they choose.

3.2.5.2 Key issues and tensions:

- The service will need to manage its capacity by undertaking the vast majority of its assessments by telephone (or through other forms of electronic communication), and the manner in which these assessments are carried out will be key in gaining user trust and meeting service purpose. However, telephone assessments are often experienced as impersonal, due to their 'call centre' presentation with its particular tone of voice/enunciation, and standard phrases, which does not lend itself to conveying genuineness, empathy or a person feeling heard or understood. The challenge for the provider will be to provide a skilled 'human' person-centred assessment to everyone no matter what medium it is conducted in.
- The length, medium, quality, focus and language of assessments can all serve to leave people feeling unheard and the service without enough information to make a proper set of judgements about the most effective treatment(s).
- IAPT assessments can be experienced as too fast and impersonal. Consequently the view can be expressed that assessment should be part of a longer process running through the IAPT service. While IAPT is not a long-term service, nor part of the Care Programme Approach (CPA), this view might usefully inform the need for the assessment to be of a high quality and long enough for the person to feel understood and their experience valued. This may be the case in particular where service users have experienced complex trauma and/or have multiple issues causing them to present to the service. Where service users have a care plan from secondary mental health services, IAPT should ensure appropriate integration with it.
- IAPT services face criticism for applying the 'least intervention first time' principle to all service users. While this works well for some, others can go through repeated inappropriate interventions before getting to the one that is right for them often deteriorating and re-presenting. An effective assessment should avoid unnecessary treatments.
- Assessments should be conducted in the first (or preferred) language of the service user and for people for whom spoken English is not their first language, this will be most likely through an interpreter unless there are therapists available with the particular language skills. Assessments conducted through an interpreter can be problematic: an interpreter can skew the therapeutic relationship by placing a distance between therapist and client; the nuances of the process can be lost; a third party is involved in a person's (personal) therapeutic experience and, for people from relatively small and close-knit communities, members of those communities (as an interpreter) are involved in a person's therapy.
- Service users voice an understandable desire to exercise agency in their treatment which tends to manifest through requests for a high level of choice of intervention, therapist, length of therapy etc. Providing such levels of choice in a high volume service can present challenges to service efficiency and its ability to meet national and local outcomes. The provider might reconcile this potential conflict through exercising positive and confident clinical judgement in relation to describing the

²³ Evaluating the impact of a therapeutic consultation session on psychotherapeutic engagement and outcomes compared with treatment-as-usual site comparators. Centre for Psychological Therapies in Primary Care. 2017.

most appropriate offer and demonstrating (through its results) that it is trust-worthy. Choice can have less emphasis placed upon it when the quality and outcomes of a service are widely known to be high.

• The sheer volume of referrals (including self-referrals) to IAPT, and the wide range of need that they represent means that it will not be possible (or necessary) to offer everyone an assessment. It will be necessary to put in place an early triage process that enables people to choose other services that should better meet their immediate needs. These could include online self-help/self-management resources and signposting information about the range of other services and interventions available to redirect those who don't require the IAPT service.

3.2.6 Recovery

Links to key related sections:

- 2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.3 Timeliness of service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies
- 3.2.5 Assessment
- 3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

Key of technical definitions and abbreviations

Recovery rates are specifically and clearly defined within IAPT reporting and are the major indicator of the service's success. The national expectation is to achieve at least a 50% recovery rate. However the IAPT definition of recovery is specific and, whilst understanding national reporting requirements, the provider will be expected to also adopt qualitative recovery measures and follow-up information to help achieve better outcomes for service users and the continual development of the service.

3.2.7 Communications

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.9 Younger people
- 3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support
- 3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

Good communications will be an essential factor in the service's success in increasing its access rates and effectiveness. It will need to promote itself clearly, conveying confidence in it and understanding of how it can improve wellbeing in the various neighbourhoods, groups and communities across the area.

3.2.8 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)

Links to key related sections:

- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies
- 3.2.5 Assessment
- 3.2.10 Older people
- 3.5.1 Primary and Secondary mental health interface
- 3.6 Workforce, education and training

3.2.8.1 Background

People who have mental health problems in the context of long-term physical health conditions (e.g. diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cardiovascular disease, cancer) and people who are troubled by symptoms inadequately explained by their medical condition (sometimes called persistent physical symptoms or medically unexplained symptoms) are poorly served by existing services. In particular, there is an urgent need to provide them with more integrated physical and psychological healthcare to improve their quality of life and reduce costs to the NHS and the wider system. Underpinned by core IAPT principles and standards, IAPT services will be required to develop and deliver a new model through integration with physical health care services.

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health expects mental health and physical health services to work together in a more integrated way, meaning that each gains greater awareness of the issues pertinent to the other when working with patients. It asserted that there should be fewer cases where people are unable to get physical care due to mental health problems affecting engagement and attendance (and vice versa), and that there needs to be the provision of mental health support in physical health care settings – especially in primary care.

In 2016, NHS England published Implementing the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health²⁴ which committed to parity of esteem for mental and physical health. There is a national expectation that 1.5 million people should access IAPT by 2020/21. Of the additional 600,000 people who should be seen, two thirds of them will have coexisting physical and mental health conditions and should be seen within IAPT services.

3.2.8.2 Integration of IAPT and LTC pathways

Integrating mental and physical health care can ensure a more proactive approach to mental health by reducing stigma and promoting mental health awareness. It should allow faster treatment if services are co-located by reducing barriers to enable more effective treatment due to better understanding of coexisting physical health problems and better tailored care plans.

Mutual awareness raising and skill sharing should be associated with workforce co-location, and it is expected that the person-centred and holistically orientated approaches that result from co-location will improve the success of both IAPT and LTC/MUS pathways. This should also help to overcome common barriers that hinder the recognition and treatment of mental health problems with a co-morbid LTC or MUS, (such as diagnostic overshadowing, presenting with physical symptoms only and the time pressures that physical health teams are under).

3.2.8.3 Outreach to LTC/MUS pathways

Alongside the co-location of IAPT staff members with specific LTC pathways, the service can work to promote understanding of the commonality of experience within and between different health conditions. Despite differences in the needs of people living with disabling but not life-threatening health conditions and people who have a life-limiting illness, there will also be levels of common and shared experience, the recognition of which can provide

²⁴ Implementing the five year forward view for mental health. NHS England.

mutual understanding and support. Similarly, the anxiety and depression that can result from long term conditions caused by for example, the experiences of loss or reduction of function, chronic pain and/or stark changes in social/familial roles and relationships, create a potential for the service to turn shared experience into support. Therefore, the use of generic means of providing support to service users with both similar and different long term physical health conditions will be necessary. This will include the provision of selfmanagement, issue-specific and generic psycho-educational courses, therapy and selfhelp/support groups, online treatments and resources that cross over conditions/pathways.

3.2.8.4 Additional conditions treated within IAPT-LTC services

In line with the implementation of The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, evidencebased treatment will be extended to people with comorbid LTCs or MUS. The newly developed IAPT-LTC services will focus on people who have LTCs in the context of depression and anxiety disorders and will also aim to treat the following conditions:

- irritable bowel syndrome
- chronic fatigue syndrome
- MUS not otherwise specified.

3.2.8.5 Key issues and tensions:

- Integration requires a mutual commitment to joint working from both the mental health and physical health staff. Some IAPT-LTC pilot sites (elsewhere) have reported resistance from physical health pathways to joint working, co-location and closer integration with IAPT services. While the provider must take responsibility for their part in establishing these relationships, commissioners will need to support them to realise this important set of national requirements can be.
- The medical model of health is strong and the understanding of interplay between physical and mental health is poor.
- Co-location without strong commitment and service development could result in the continued separation of services, but with IAPT staff bearing the responsibility for mental health rather than this being shared.
- LTC pathways for each condition are commissioned and provided discretely from each other, often with different services across BNSSG. The IAPT provider will need to work and plan carefully to explore and put in place the most effective and efficient ways of managing co-location on the scale that is within its capacity.

Please see the IAPT Long-term conditions positive practice guide,²⁵ IAPT positive practice guidance for Medically Unexplained Symptoms/Functional Symptoms,²⁶ the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Pathway for People with Long-term Physical Health Conditions and Medically Unexplained Symptoms Full Implementation Guidance²⁷ and the position statement from the Royal College of Psychiatrists, Royal College of General Practitioners, British Psychological Society and Royal College of Physicians²⁸ for further information.

²⁸ Providing evidence-based psychological therapies to people with long-term conditions and/or medically unexplained symptoms. Royal College of Psychiatrists, Royal College of General Practitioners, British Psychological Society and Royal College of Physicians. 2015.

²⁵ IAPT Long-term conditions positive practice guide. NHS. 2008.

²⁶ IAPT Medically Unexplained Symptoms/Functional Symptoms Positive Practice Guide. NHS. 2014.

²⁷ <u>The Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Pathway for People with Long-</u> term Physical Health Conditions and Medically Unexplained Symptoms. National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health - Full Implementation Guidance. 2018.

3.2.9 Younger people (16 years+)

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.7 Communications
- 3.6 Workforce, education and training

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

3.2.9.1 Background

This IAPT service is commissioned to provide treatment for people from the age of 16 years and must therefore have an understanding of the particular needs, and means of engagement of younger people in order to increase their access to it. It will also need to establish a positive external perception through the language it uses, the attitudes it conveys in its publicity, its methods of communication and delivery of therapies (in line with younger people's preferences) as these will all impact on its success in reaching a younger demographic (that ranges from 16 years into the mid/late 20s).

3.2.9.2 Connections with other provision

There are a number of key services and pathways across BNSSG specifically commissioned to address younger people's mental health issues which will be important for this service to forge connections with. However, the available provision differs and therefore 16 and 17 year olds will have a different landscape of external services available to them depending upon which local authority area they live in. It is therefore essential that this service treats younger people fairly and equitably across the whole service area even though they may have less equitable access to other provision.

There are currently two commissioned services that are directly relevant to IAPT:

Bristol and South Gloucestershire Counselling Service (for 11-18 year olds):

Off The Record provide the Bristol and South Gloucestershire Counselling Service for 11-18 year olds, commissioned in 2017 by Bristol and South Gloucestershire CCGs to provide 'IAPT compliant' interventions for children and young people. Note that this is 'Children and Young People's IAPT', it does not mean that they provide (adult specified) IAPT services within the terms of this contract.

Section 3.5.3 of that service specification provides detail as to the connection with previous local IAPT services, and a mechanism whereby the service's triage process can refer or signpost young people into the IAPT service directly (bypassing waiting lists). A new arrangement will need to be negotiated and clarified with Off the Record in order to ensure a strong linkage while maintaining equity across BNSSG (see 2.6.11).

The Bristol and South Gloucestershire Counselling Service for 11-18 year olds specification will be made available to the provider as an appendix to this specification for full reference.

• Kooth - Bristol and North Somerset's online service for 11-19 year olds

The former Bristol and North Somerset CCGs commissioned an online support and counselling service. This service forms part of the contract held by Bristol and South Gloucestershire's Community Children's Health Partnership led by Sirona Care for all young people aged 11-19. This service is online, confidential and independently accessible without any formal referral process or tracking. It offers an important additional resource for young people who present to the IAPT service.

The service will need to establish strong connections with further and higher education college student support/counselling services to ensure that students can receive the most appropriate support.

3.2.9.3 Young people who are leaving or who have left local authority care

Research has demonstrated that, despite high levels of poor mental health, care leavers are not accessing IAPT services due to a range of factors that include access criteria and waiting times.²⁹

As some care leavers do not have supportive social networks (including extended family support circles), access to early intervention can be more critical to prevent later use of acute services.

Young people who are looked after by the local authority will leave care before or at the age of 18 years, and be supported by a personal adviser until the age of 21 years.

3.2.9.4 Key issues and tensions:

• While IAPT services work with people from the age of 16 years, they can be constructed and experienced as generic adult services, with practices that feel unwelcoming/unattractive and inadvertently exclude younger people.

3.2.10 Older people

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

3.2.8 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)

3.2.10.1 Background

Most older people in the UK have good mental health and wellbeing, but a significant minority (an estimated 3 million) have mental health symptoms that affect the quality of their lives. Mental health problems in later life can have a massive social impact, resulting in poor quality of life, isolation and exclusion. However, evidence-based psychological therapies can be effective for older people.

It is believed that 25% of people over the age of 65 living in the community have symptoms of depression serious enough to warrant intervention, but only a third of them discuss it with their GPs, and only half of those get treatment, primarily medication.

Older people tend to engage well with IAPT interventions, completing their course of therapy and achieving good recovery scores at discharge, and yet they tend to be poorly represented in IAPT access rate figures across the country.

3.2.10.2 Key issues and tensions:

• Depression and anxiety in older people are strongly connected with social isolation, bereavement (and the loss of friends/family/social networks), poverty and the impact of increasing disability. Treatment of the psychological difficulties without paying attention to associated factors (through referral pathways) is unlikely to enable sustained outcomes.

²⁹ Braden, J. Goddard, J. Graham, D. CARING FOR BETTER HEALTH: An investigation into the health needs of care leavers. Section 9. p44. 2017.

- Older people can be the subjects of others' low expectations in relation to their mental/physical health/wellbeing and the services/options they are presented with. Their own ambitions and expectations of themselves are often higher than those that service providers have of them.
- While certain issues of accessibility require a specific focus to be inclusive of older people, most means of improving access are beneficial to all under-represented groups.
- Dealing with each equality group or protected characteristic in isolation can fail to notice the commonalities of need/experience, as experiences of age, race, disability, gender, sexual orientation etc overlap and interweave people are not just 'old'.

See the IAPT Older People Positive Practice Guide³⁰ and IAPT Older People's Training and Resources³¹ for more information.

3.2.11 Perinatal mental health

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.5 Assessment

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

3.2.11.1 Background

The Antenatal and Postnatal Mental Health NICE guideline³² recognises the serious impact of undiagnosed depression and anxiety disorders on the health and wellbeing of the mother and baby during pregnancy and the postnatal period. Therefore, the IAPT Manual recommends that women in the perinatal period are prioritised for assessment within 2 weeks of referral and commence treatment within 4 weeks.

The Positive Practice Guide also recognises the mental health needs of fathers in the perinatal period both in relation to the prospect of fatherhood and to their partner's perinatal mental health difficulties. Men themselves can also experience perinatal mental health issues and should be referred and supported in an appropriate way. However, it must also be recognised that parenting is often not hetero-normative and these difficulties can also occur in same-sex couples/partnerships and in any partnership where there is an adult who will have a close/parental/care-giving relationship with a child.

3.2.11.2 Key issues and tensions:

- While 'fast-tracking' of different groups to assessment in order to reduce waiting times is not recommended as the means of capacity and waiting list management, it is essential that women (and/or their co-parents) with depression and anxiety during pregnancy or in the first year of their child's life get assessed and treated quickly.
- There will be a number of specific issues that impact on women with young children being able to access and engage with therapy. The timings, location, travel required, provision of childcare/crèche or ability to have their babies in the therapy

³⁰ IAPT Older People Positive Practice Guide. NHS. 2009.

³¹ IAPT Older Peoples Training and Resources

³² Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance. Clinical guideline [CG192]. NICE. 2017.

with them are all key factors. Home visits can also be a enabler of a service to women with maternal depression and anxiety in exceptional circumstances.

- The 'perinatal' period covers women and their co-parents with a child in its first year, and yet they may also start to show signs of depression and anxiety later than this which also significantly impacts on their relationships with their children and on family health and development.
- Integration and collaboration with other services can present a significant challenge given the varying professional groups, organisational structures and funding streams. Women can present in a variety of physical and mental health settings across primary and secondary care, including maternity, adult mental health, drug and alcohol, eating disorders, learning disability, child and adolescent mental health, children's centres, health and social care services, health visiting and local voluntary sector mental health organisations.

See the IAPT Perinatal Positive Practice Guide³³ and Improving Access to Perinatal Mental Health Services in England – A Review³⁴ for further information.

3.2.12 Learning disability (including Autism Spectrum Disorder - ASD)

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

3.2.12.1 Background

People with the range of conditions that are grouped as learning disabilities are underrepresented in IAPT services and can benefit from IAPT interventions. With reasonable adjustments and promotion, equitable access to NICE-recommended therapies can be achieved.

3.2.12.2 Key issues and tensions:

- People with learning disabilities can often have their mental health needs ignored or thought of in relation to their learning disability. Consequently, the IAPT service may refer them to LD-specific services rather than assess and offer them an IAPT intervention.
- IAPT services are often ill-equipped in providing competent interventions or the necessary accessibility modifications to include people with learning disabilities.

See the Learning Disabilities Positive Practice Guide³⁵ for further information.

3.2.13 Sexual abuse and sexual violence

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity

³³ IAPT Perinatal Positive Practice Guide. NHS. 2013.

³⁴ Improving Access to Perinatal Mental Health Services in England – A Review. NHS Improving Quality. 2015.

³⁵ IAPT Learning Disabilities Positive Practice Guide. NHS. 2013.

3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

3.2.4 Interventions and therapies

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

People who have experienced sexual abuse either as children or as adults, may have presentations and requirements of the IAPT service that are specific to these experiences.

3.2.13.1 Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC)

The SARCs were commissioned by NHS England but (during the timescale of this reprocurement) are being recommissioned by CCGs (or clusters of CCGs) throughout England. The exact nature of the local provision is currently under discussion but will be more clear by the time that this contract is issued.

The SARC has two distinct elements. It provides:

- Immediate post-sexual assault forensic/medical examination.
- A counselling service, from the report of the assault through to the trial.

3.2.13.2 Key tensions and issues:

- While the SARC provides immediate post sexual-assault counselling, those who receive it may also present to IAPT for different or connected help before/after a trial and/or require onward referral. It is essential that this service is properly connected into the SARC counselling service in order to ensure seamless transitions.
- Many people's sexual assaults do not result in an arrest or go to trial. The specific skills to operate within a trauma-informed approach will be essential.
- Women are by far the majority of victims of sexual abuse, assault and other forms of sexual violence. The Crime Survey for England and Wales (2018) estimated that 20% of women and 4% of men had experienced some type of sexual assault since the age of 16. It will therefore be important that the lead provider is able to draw upon skilled and specialist staff and interventions to work with either group both individually and in groups, while understanding and recognising the needs of those who identify as non-binary.
- A tension lies between the relatively short-term nature of IAPT interventions and a commonly held belief that people who have experienced severe trauma (including those who have experienced childhood sexual abuse) benefit from longer term treatment.
- Sexual assault is under-reported across different demographics and communities. The service will need to be very clear about its 'professional boundaries' and safeguarding responsibilities in relation to reporting.

3.2.14 Psychosis, bipolar disorder and complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.5 Assessment
- 3.5.1 Primary and Secondary mental health interface

3.2.14.1 Background: people using secondary mental health services

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health cited the IAPT-SMI pilot sites that demonstrated the positive impact of access to NICE-recommended psychological interventions on experience, outcomes and reduced healthcare utilisation by people with psychosis, bipolar disorder and personality disorders. NHS England and Health Education England were tasked with working to build on and scale up the IAPT-SMI programme so that a greater number of people have access to psychological therapy as a core component of the adult mental health services offer.

Some people with a serious mental illness and who use or have used secondary mental health services might benefit from receiving evidence-based psychological therapies for depression and anxiety, where use of such therapy would not interfere with or detract from the impact of other treatments they receive.

3.2.14.2 Background: people with complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)

People who have experienced complex trauma in the past and who are often described as having complex needs (including personality disorders) tend to find that IAPT treatments do not meet their needs as they are not specifically orientated and shorter term than tends to be most appropriate. They consequently do not reach recovery and repeatedly represent, deteriorating over time. Even if already discharged from secondary care, they are often referred straight back to secondary services but do not meet their eligibility criteria.

More specifically, evidence demonstrates those with a diagnosis of personality disorder or personality disorder traits can benefit from specialized CBT techniques to provide greater opportunities for effective outcomes. A number of therapies have been developed and their particular efficacy for people with these presentations is strongly supported by their evidence-base.

Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire have different mental health pathways and pictures of provision for addressing the mental health of people with complex needs (including personality disorders):

- Bristol Complex Psychological Interventions (CPI). This is a tertiary service (which means access is dependent on being accepted by AWP secondary care). IAPT service includes a range of evidence-based interventions at steps 2&3 provided by various AQPs.
- North Somerset Psychological Therapies Service (secondary service delivered by AWP) and the STEPPS programme delivered (by AWP) in primary care.
- South Gloucestershire Specific funding in secondary care to support diversion from acute services. Local care pathway with a BPD Lead providing supervision and including a partnership primary/secondary care service using evidence-based interventions. Rolling out STEPPS and iMBT programmes co-facilitated between IAPT and secondary staff.

The IAPT service does not and cannot fill the gap below secondary care for all those with such a diagnosis, but it is expected that it does offer a range of evidence-based interventions that are known to positively work with people who have a diagnosis of personality disorder or personality disorder traits and evidence of success.

3.2.14.3 Key issues and tensions:

 People with these diagnoses tend to be associated with secondary mental health services, but nonetheless experience common mental health difficulties, perhaps as a result of personal circumstances, life events or socio-economic factors (for example bereavement, financial or housing difficulties, social isolation). They must not be prevented from receiving specific evidence-based psychological help for such presentations outside of secondary mental health services due to either their condition or pre-existing connection with secondary services.

• The CPI (Complex Psychological Interventions) service in Bristol may be able to offer such therapies to people with these diagnoses in conjunction with a current secondary service, or who are no longer receiving such a service.

3.2.15 Employment and job retention support

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies
- 3.2.5 Assessment

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

3.2.15.1 Background

The IAPT Manual highlights the negative personal and societal impact of depression and anxiety on educational achievement, employment, levels of absenteeism, work performance, earnings and productivity. These are accompanied by increased social welfare expenditure. These issues impact more significantly still on people with coexisting mental and physical health problems. It has been established that the longer people are absent, or out of work, the more likely they are to experience depression and anxiety. Therefore, employment advice, delivered as a core part of an IAPT service, can be integral to the success of that service.

Since its launch in 2008, there has been a recognition that many people who come into contact with IAPT services have some level of need in relation to employment (they may be unemployed, having difficulties at work, or off sick and in danger of losing their jobs).

3.2.15.2 Key issues and tensions:

- There is a common mistrust of employment services, as they can be seen as 'forcing people off benefits and into unsuitable paid work'.
- Generic disability employment services can tend towards relatively low expectations of people and the work that they can/should aspire to.
- There is a tension between on the one hand, placing employment at the end of a 'journey' (a series of steps) that may lead to (or back to) it; and on the other, placing emphasis on concurrent employment (and other socio-economic) support alongside IAPT interventions to ensure that people are supported to hold on to their jobs and sense of employability.
- As some people feel more able to address work issues after IAPT treatment has positively impacted upon them, there is a need for continual reference to employment during their progress through IAPT.
- While the service's work is with individuals, there should be some recognition of and connection with wider local work being undertaken to promote 'mentally healthy workplaces'. There should be recognition of stigma and how both the experience, and fear of it can impact on individuals in their work.

3.2.16 Poverty, debt and benefits advice

Links to key related sections:

3.1.1 Service ethos

3.2.5 Assessment

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

3.2.16.1 Background

The connection between poverty/debt and depression/anxiety are strong, and often directly correlate with unemployment, homelessness, substance misuse, social isolation, contact with the criminal justice system etc.

While an IAPT service in itself cannot provide welfare rights advice, it can and should have strong connections with all the debt and welfare rights advice services across the three local authority areas.

3.2.16.2 Key issues and tensions:

- In circumstances where anxiety/depression are caused by or strongly associated with poverty and/or debt, if the service only engages with the anxiety or depression without concurrently ensuring that the financial difficulties are addressed, any improvement in mental health is likely to be only fleeting and not sustained.
- For some, a referral on to poverty/debt advice might divert them from requiring therapy, for others, the services will need to work concurrently to address both the financial and mental health difficulties.
- For others, to have support to begin to remedy financial issues may be necessary before they are able to contemplate working on their psychological difficulties. In such circumstances, the IAPT service should have the means to hold the referral rather than require them to re-present at a later stage.

3.2.17 Housing and homelessness

Links to key related sections:

- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

3.2.17.1 Background

Inadequate or insecure housing and homelessness are key factors that contribute to the deterioration of mental health. Early intervention and an assessment that recognises the role these factors play in depression and anxiety, along with offering encouragement for tenancy sustainment and having the connections in place to get people practical support from local services as quickly as possible is essential. IAPT has a key role in offering a service to people in these circumstances who exhibit the relevant mental health conditions.

Many homeless people have experienced significant early traumas and a range of other complex associated circumstances that have led or contributed to their difficulties.

The three LAs provide statutory housing services along with commissioned homelessness services/pathways that differ according to the level of need in each area. For example, Bristol has four commissioned adult homelessness pathways, specialist young people's accommodation pathways and resettlement workers that this service should forge clear routes to and from.

There is an increasing need for the IAPT service's practice to be trauma-informed when working with homeless and other people with complex needs, and to understand its position

and work collaboratively with other agencies that may be involved with a person – e.g. homelessness, substance misuse, secondary mental health services.

3.2.17.2 Key issues and tensions:

- Housing and homelessness provision varies across the three LA areas. This means there are significant differences in provision that can be drawn on for referral onto.
- It is common for homeless people with mental health difficulties to find themselves repeatedly passed between homelessness, mental health and (particularly in crisis situations) emergency services.
- There is a national requirement for an increase in housing across the UK with key fast-growing developments in BNSSG. This service will need to adapt to new housing developments and the associated shifting demography.

3.2.18 Tobacco Cessation & Harm Reduction

Links to key related sections:

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

Given the known high levels of smoking prevalence among service users accessing mental health services, and the proven relationship of smoking with depression and anxiety, IAPT services are a key place to offer early smoking cessation interventions to support wider Public Health programmes.

3.2.19 Substance misuse

Links to key related sections:

3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

3.2.4 Interventions and therapies

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

Drug and alcohol misuse are not automatic exclusion criteria for accessing IAPT if, following assessment, it is determined that the person would benefit from IAPT interventions in line with NICE guidance. Substance misuse clients with mental health needs should have access to NICE-recommended psychological interventions, including CBT for depression and anxiety and there is no evidence that substance misuse per se makes the usual psychological therapies ineffective. The IAPT and substance misuse services will need to work together to develop locally agreed pathways and criteria for more specialist interventions when indicated.

Please see the IAPT positive practice guide for working with people who use drugs and alcohol³⁶ for further information.

3.2.20 People in contact with the criminal justice system

³⁶ <u>IAPT positive practice guide for working with people who use drugs and alcohol. NHS.</u> <u>2012.</u>

Links to key related sections:

3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

3.2.4 Interventions and therapies

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

National data indicate that, despite having high levels of poor mental health, people in contact with the criminal justice system tend to be under-represented in IAPT services. The service should inspect the local data and establish positive connections with local prisons, the Prison and Probation Service and the National Offender Management Service in order to ensure access from offenders who meet IAPT eligibility criteria.

Please see the IAPT Offenders Positive Practice Guide³⁷ for further information.

3.2.21 Serving and ex-serving armed forces personnel

Links to key related sections:

- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

The Armed Forces Covenant³⁸ clearly sets out the nation's commitment to armed forces personnel, their families and veterans. There are additional risks to the mental health of people from this group, such as traumatic combat experiences, time away from family during prolonged or frequent deployment, the instability in home life this can bring and difficulty in the transition back to civilian life.

See the Veterans Positive Practice Guide³⁹ for increasing access and building capability within the workforce to understand the military culture.

3.3 Population covered - conditions treated by IAPT

Links to key related sections:

3.2.4 Interventions and therapies

This single service will cover the entire BNSSG area.

Depression and anxiety disorders are the most common mental health problems affecting individuals and society. The list below covers depression, the most common anxiety related disorders and other conditions treated within IAPT services. It is recognised that many people experience more than one of these conditions.

- Depression
- Generalised anxiety disorder
- Social anxiety disorder (social phobia)

³⁷ IAPT Offenders Positive Practice Guide. NHS. 2013.

³⁸ <u>The Armed Forces Covenant.</u>

³⁹ IAPT Veterans Positive Practice Guide. NHS. 2013.

- Panic disorder
- Agoraphobia
- Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD)
- Specific phobias
- Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)
- Health anxiety (hypochondriasis)
- Body dysmorphic disorder
- Mixed anxiety and depressive disorder
- Irritable bowel syndrome*
- Chronic fatigue syndrome*
- MUS not otherwise specified*

IAPT services are only expected to treat these conditions if they have developed an IAPT-LTC pathway and have staff who have received training in the treatment of these conditions.

(From the IAPT Manual)

3.4 Any acceptance and exclusion criteria and thresholds

3.4.1 Acceptance criteria

See:

3.2.2.1 Background, Improving access to, and accessibility of the service

3.4.2 Exclusions

Links to key related sections:

- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.5 Assessment

Key of technical definitions and abbreviations

While the IAPT service has clear definitions of the levels of anxiety and depression that it can work with, there are very few definitive exclusion criteria for access to it. The emphasis is on inclusion and the positive and clear presentation of the service's purpose, what it is commissioned to deliver and to whom.

The following exclusions will apply:

- People who at the time of assessment, for whatever reason (e.g. acute illness, childbirth, compulsory admission), are unable to engage with IAPT therapies. They will be referred to a more appropriate care pathway, although this will not preclude their return to the IAPT service at a later time.
- People who, at the time of assessment have needs (defined through the service's standard measures) below IAPT's eligibility (see 'caseness', Key of technical definitions and abbreviations). They will be redirected to self-help/self-management interventions, other socio-economic services that can provide them with appropriate support, although this will not preclude their return to the service at a later time.
- People who are assessed to have mental health needs that would be more appropriately supported at the secondary mental health level. They will be referred to their local secondary mental health care pathway and followed up accordingly through their GP. This will not preclude their return to the service at a later time. It

is not within the remit of this service to assume care co-ordination responsibility for any individual referred for treatment – the GP remains the Care Co-ordinator if the service user is not engaged with secondary mental health services.

• People who have mental health conditions outside those that IAPT is able to treat.

3.5 Interdependence with other services/providers

3.5.1 Primary and Secondary mental health interface

Links to key related sections:

- 2.3 Measurement, evaluation and learning/development
- 3.2.8 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)
- 3.2.14 Psychosis, bipolar disorder and complex needs (including those with personality disorder diagnoses)

(A diagrammatic representation of IAPT in the context of its position in relation to primary and secondary care across BNSSG will be put in as an appendix)

The IAPT Manual states that IAPT services sit within a wider system of care and spans primary and secondary mental health care. They operate a 'hub and spoke' model, which typically includes a central management and administration office with strong primary care and community links that enable most of the face-to-face therapy to be provided in local settings that are as easy for people to access as possible (such as GP practices, community settings and voluntary organisations).

The IAPT service forms a key part of the mental health system across BNSSG and is part of the Integrated Pathway. Strong connections and clear communications with primary care (including Primary Care Integration) and secondary mental health services are essential to the system functioning effectively.

South Gloucestershire, for example, published a leaflet publicising their primary care offer which brings together the range of provision that can help people with their mental health/wellbeing at the primary care level. Commissioners hope that, over the course of this contract, this service will become a strong and vibrant part of the Integrated Localities programmes across BNSSG.

There is a growing demand upon mental health services which represents a level of need that lies between IAPT and secondary service eligibility. It is acknowledged that this IAPT service cannot address or be held responsible for this gap in provision, or for treating all mental health issues below secondary mental health service eligibility. However, commissioners expect the provider to work with them to take a key role in establishing and maintaining strong and positive relationships with GP practices, secondary mental health services and local authority provided/commissioned services, and clearly communicating its role and purpose in the wider system.

Mental health provision across BNSSG currently includes a range of different commissioned services and types of intervention – e.g. CPNs located within some practices, a primary care mental health pilot, some specific joint primary/secondary PD interventions etc.

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

Links to key related sections:

3.1.1 Service ethos

- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.1 Delivery model
- 3.2.7 Communications
- 3.2.9 Younger people
- 3.2.10 Older people
- 3.2.11 Perinatal mental health
- 3.2.13 Sexual abuse and sexual violence
- 3.2.15 Employment and job retention support
- 3.2.16 Poverty, debt and benefits advice
- 3.2.17 Housing and homelessness
- 3.2.19 Substance misuse
- 3.2.20 People in contact with the criminal justice system
- 3.2.21 Serving and ex-serving armed forces personnel
- 3.6 Workforce, education and training

The development of referral pathways (with associated protocols) to and from other provision is more robust than signposting. Providing a name or phone number does not necessarily result in a service user reaching the service, where a clear referral with an agreed protocol with the integral accountability can ensure that the offer has been taken up and its result tracked.

Similarly, the use of, and formal connection to the existing online databases that describe the wide range of statutory, voluntary and neighbourhood/community sector provision across the area is more robust and extensive than staff in a service collecting/storing their own contacts in a separate database.

In practice, our approach means that the provider will put administrative resources into knowing the arena in which they operate, forge clear referral pathways and play their part in developing associated protocols to and from the wide range of (often locally based) services across the area including but not limited to:

- Debt and financial/benefits advice
- Employment and job retention support
- Social prescribing⁴⁰
- The (South Gloucestershire) Wellbeing College
- Cultural services (including sport and physical activity)
- Health promotion and healthy lifestyles activities
- Substance misuse services and pathways
- Housing
- (Bristol) Homelessness services and pathways
- Sexual abuse and sexual violence support

The IAPT Manual states that: The provider, in partnership with primary and secondary care clinicians and commissioners should develop local care pathways in consultation with patient groups and community leaders. Collaboration is critical to enabling access to services for a range of under-represented groups. Working in partnership with patients is paramount to understand and overcome barriers that might hinder the effective shaping of local pathways. Closer working with the community and voluntary sectors will improve

⁴⁰ <u>Kimberlee, R. What is the Value of Social Prescribing?</u>. Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal. 2016.

access to services for community groups who may find it more difficult to access services via primary care, such as people from black and minority ethnic (BAME) communities.

Covering three local authority counties, the service will have different landscapes of external provision to draw upon. Bristol, as a large city, has a great deal more resource than either North Somerset or South Gloucestershire. While local authority funding has reduced over recent years, and funded services are more limited, than previously, the service should positively connect with the local services and provision that does exist. The provider must fully understand the differences in local provision across the area, can positively work with them, and clearly communicate them to service users. The discrepancies that could result in users being disadvantaged should be fed back to commissioners in order that they can be addressed at the local Health and Wellbeing Boards.

BNSSG comprises a single large city, large and smaller towns, villages and entirely rural communities, all of which must be equitably served in terms of the processes of the service and its quality. Due to the nature of the service and the geographical coverage, it is anticipated that the provider can make the connections to place themselves in a strong position to work in partnership (with local authorities, the DWP, regional development programmes) across local structures, and to draw in funding resources, research and evaluation opportunities to progress this outward-focussed service model.

3.6 Workforce, education and training

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies
- 3.2.8 Long-term health conditions (LTCs) and medically unexplained symptoms (MUS)
- 3.2.9 Younger people

3.5.2 Connections and referral pathways to and from other existing services and support

3.6.1 Background

Ensuring the competence and quality of the IAPT workforce: The right workforce, appropriately trained, with the right capacity and skills mix, is essential to ensuring the delivery of NICE-recommended care. Adherence to the protocols of NICE-recommended therapy is critical to good outcomes. Therefore, the success of the IAPT programme depends on the quality of the workforce.

The IAPT Manual provides essential practice guidance addressing the workforce issues in relation to a set of key areas:

- The low and high intensity workforce.
- Clinical leadership.
- Additional workforces: including managers, employment advisors, data analysts and administrative staff.
- Equality and diversity issues.
- Competences and training.
- Staff wellbeing.
- Supervision.⁴¹
- Career development.

⁴¹ <u>Competence Framework for the Supervision of Psychological Therapies.</u>

• Workforce retention.

It is commissioners' expectation that the provider will follow the guidance of the Manual, build on it through their own local developments, and implement any new national requirements that are issued over the course of the contract.

Additional to the requirements laid out in the Manual, the service ethos (see 3.1.1) requires a particular value base, competence and skill mix in its workforce in order to deliver the vision:

- The provider will need to consider staffing options and creating capacity within the service in order to integrate the ethos. This will include nurturing, building and sustaining external relationships and developing referral pathways to and from a range of existing provision across the service's footprint.
- The service will require a workforce that can integrate a high level of clinical competence with the service ethos into their practice.
- The service will need to create a culture that has the understanding of the social determinants of mental health, equality and equity at its core.
- The ethos and clinical requirements of the service must be shared throughout the entire workforce rather than located with 'specialists'.

3.6.2 Equality

This service will provide IAPT interventions to a diverse population across the service area and must recruit, train and support a workforce that is representative of the communities it serves to improve mental health and reduce inequality (see 3.1.2).

Key factors to improve equity of access and outcomes for equality communities include:

- A diverse workforce more representative of the local population.
- Ensuring cultural competence through ongoing CPD and appropriate outcomesfocused supervision.
- An extensive language capacity that can cover the most widely spoken languages across the area as well as less common ones (including British Sign Language). Where therapists do not have facility in required languages, high quality interpretation services must be available.

3.6.3 Employment advisors

Employment advisers are commissioned as part of the workforce for this service, however, the size of this resource (the number of advisors over the service) will be within the provider's own workforce planning. Employment Advisors bring particular skill and focus to the service placing importance on sustainment of, and engagement with paid employment. They will:

- Promote understanding of the importance of employment in the whole service and how it can support recovery.
- Undertake specific job retention casework.
- Undertake specific job search casework.
- Build partnerships and referral pathways with local and national organisations and services in relation to employment (specifically around health, disability and mental health).

3.6.4 Key issues and tensions:

• The location of the clinical IAPT interventions within a service that presents a different focus - understanding depression and anxiety in a more holistic context - may place key challenges on leadership and training as it requires a wider

ideological base than mental health staff are often used to taking. Clarity of ethos and direction will be essential, as will placing demands on the low and high intensity workforce training programmes.

- It is clear that IAPT services need to be proactive in engaging people from all communities. This will require substantial recruitment from communities that are under-represented according to access rate measurements, with associated language capabilities. There are tensions here in terms of the size, skill base and level of training of the pool of staff to draw on from different communities across the area (who may have been disadvantaged in relation to education, training and employment opportunities). Mitigations lie in innovation, a trusted reputation for anti-discriminatory employment practice, taking positive action, apprenticeship and trainee programmes etc.
- The needs of service users (and therefore of the service) and those of staff in relation to both language capability and providing choice of therapist will require careful attention. While some staff may want to work in their mother tongue and/or with people from their own communities, others may not want to be restricted to who they work with.
- PWPs (Psychological Wellbeing Practitioner) can report a lack of understanding from other health professionals about the remit of their role within IAPT services. Recognition of the value PWPs bring and effectively integrating them into the team is crucial.
- There is a high turnover within the IAPT workforce nationally, particularly in the PWP role. Retention and staff development must form an integral part of the service with programmes to promote them. A service culture that is vibrant, supportive and nurturing, with career development pathways will help to mitigate turnover and the associated staff loss.
- The service will need to both train its own staff and contribute to training of partner agencies in relation to understanding roles and responsibilities. It will need to work with NHSE and HEE (Health Education England) to encourage wider recruitment programmes and to promote training for currently under-represented staff groups.
- A predominantly homogenous workforce is likely to impact on the ability to connect with and gain the trust of different communities. Importantly, social class, although not counted amongst Protected Characteristics in the Equality Act 2010 can influence relationships particularly in neighbourhoods of high social disadvantage.

3.7 Information management and technology (IM&T)

Links to key related sections:

- 3.1.1 Service ethos
- 3.1.2 Equality and equity
- 3.1.3 Co-production and user involvement
- 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service
- 3.2.4 Interventions and therapies
- 3.2.5 Assessment
- 3.2.7 Communications
- 3.2.6 Recovery

3.7.1 IM&T overview

The Five Year Forward View⁴² made a commitment that, by 2020, there would be "fully interoperable electronic health records so that patient's records are paperless". This was supported by a Government commitment in Personalised Health and Care 2020 that 'all patient and care records will be digital, interoperable and real-time by 2020'⁴³. This requires information to flow more effectively across health and care to support the delivery of direct care.

These documents make clear that service users and carers expect that whenever and wherever they access services, those caring for them can easily access comprehensive, accurate and timely information. They anticipate professionals working with modern information systems that bring together all of the relevant information available – from diagnostic tests and clinical notes, case histories to records of personal preferences. Service user experience and the effectiveness and safety of care will be improved through working towards paper-free environments delivered at the point of care.

The focus of the IM&T systems in mental health services is on provision of seamless service user care across all services and not on organisational boundaries. It is important to ensure that the IAPT service connects appropriately to secondary mental health across BNSSG, and that information can flow freely to other services, including primary & secondary care to ensure a safe and effective care pathway for service users.

The lead provider will provide appropriate and boundaryless IM&T solutions across the whole BNSSG IAPT system (including with agencies in any consortia, partnership or subcontractual arrangements), to underpin and support the entire service, backed up by appropriate policies, procedures, and service agreements. The use of technology must support easy access to the service, and the lead provider agency should take advantage of new and emerging technologies which will facilitate increases in both access and recovery.

The IAPT lead provider will provide a comprehensive electronic care records system operational by contract commencement that must be available across the whole service: All partner and sub-contracted organisations are required to use this system. The leader provider agency will be responsible for system reporting including the IAPT Minimum Data Set.

If any elements of the specification are not in place at contract commencement, the lead provider will have in place

A service impact assessment and any necessary contingency plans.

A clear costed plan and timescale (agreed with the Commissioners during the mobilisation phase) to deliver this functionality where it is their responsibility.

3.7.2 IM&T scope

The IAPT service will be led by a single lead provider with responsibility for managing the overall digital information system. Where the lead provider is part of a consortium or engages in partnerships or sub-contractual arrangements with other agencies, (in relation to clinical management and information governance) they will be responsible for ensuring information is managed and shared appropriately across the whole IAPT system. This is critical to the delivery of this model.

The general responsibilities for the lead provider are:

- Provision, support, and management of a care records system
- Ensure that the care record is used to record accurate, complete and timely clinical information. The lead provider will ensure that the electronic care records system records all service user details and retains a record of both clinical and non-clinical contact with service users across the whole system. This will include

⁴² Five year forward view: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-five-year-forward-view</u>

⁴³ Personalised Health and Care 2020: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/personalised-health-and-care-2020/using-data-and-technology-to-transform-outcomes-for-patients-and-citizens</u>

all personal and demographic information, in accordance with the IAPT minimum dataset (MDS), all equalities data (under the Equalities Act 2010), all data required for performance reporting and service planning, and any communication between provider and service users.

- The provision of a reporting solution on behalf of the whole service. Partner
 organisations should have access to their data to enable them to manage their
 own services, including activity, quality and outcomes.
- Ensure the provision of appropriate infrastructure to facilitate access/connectivity to the electronic care records system and reporting solutions. This includes providing a means of connection to the information system for other partner agencies and a clear Warrantied Environment Specification for any partner equipment to be connected to the system.
- Non-clinical business applications such as secure email, finance, HR and file storage for their own service.
- Provision of access to online therapeutic services for patients, including meeting associated licensing costs, as described in the overall service specification.
- Providing patient access to one-to-one call-based therapies online, e.g. using Skype and other VOIP systems, Facebook Messenger, WhatsApp etc

The lead provider must ensure they have a good understanding of the IM&T requirements in order to enable effective working. They will therefore:

- Have an IM&T Strategy that explicitly states how IM&T will be developed to deliver the service across the whole IAPT system whilst adhering to NHS, industry and local health community standards. This must be aligned to local IM&T strategy including the STP local digital roadmap, and local strategic solutions such as connecting care
- Work closely with other providers to develop clear operational policies and business processes that underpin seamless care provision across the BNSSG area. This may involve health, social care and other agencies
- Ensure that all specified information functionality in the service model is supported by the electronic care records systems. Paper records are not acceptable clinical records for any services, although service users or carers may have their own paper copies of records.
- Ensuring a robust governance framework is in place including management of data quality across the whole system.
- Work proactively and positively with other stakeholders to address Information Governance issues and deliver mutual benefits, developing the solutions using a collaborative, and problem solving approach.
- The lead provider will make the electronic care records and reporting systems available to any partner or subcontracted organisations engaged in the delivery of the service. Any partner or subcontractors will be responsible for purchasing their own local hardware infrastructure to enable full and equivalent connectivity to these systems through the connectivity mechanism the lead contractor specifies, and to the Warrantied Environment Specification provided by the lead contractor.
- Plan and manage the transfer of required IAPT service data with the outgoing
 provider systems. (This may include but is not limited to clinical records, emails,
 data on share drives and HR records) in order to support transfer of staff and
 patients to the new services, and ensure continuity of care. This will need to be
 agreed as part of the transition process. The provider will need to undertake and
 process agreed with the commissioner to pass on the equivalent data at the end
 of the contract.

3.7.3 Electronic care record system (ECR)

This document does not seek to specify the detailed requirements of the Electronic Care Record as the provider will be responsible for identifying a solution that meets the needs of the services specified. However, the ECR should meet all the key requirements defined here, including, but not limited to:

Be patient centred i.e. enable the patient or carer to manage their care, and their interactions with the service including appropriate access to their own records Ideally Service users to should be able to read their care plan online at any given point in time.

Be already in use in an IAPT care setting, or assured for use in this setting

Be intuitive to use

Be flexible and locally configurable, to meet current and future needs of the service.

Enable local outcomes and KPIs to be reported, in addition to the national requirements

- Letters and other documents produced from the system will be branded as one service, irrespective of the provider, and tailored by individual users.
- Support communications services to patients, such as SMS messages for appointment reminders
- Allow the real time, contemporaneous collection of all notes, including appropriate clinical and non-clinical data at the point of contact with the service user
- Allow key information to be transferred electronically when patients are referred to or discharged from services, in a clear consistent format. (This refers to messages that can be work-flowed by the receiving clinical service, ideally using NHS digital's latest transfers of care standards. Use of fax/letters/email is not the preferred solution.)
- Allow for production of service user friendly communications such as Summary letter of clinical intervention
- Integrate with national applications e.g. the Summary Care Record and Patient Demographics Service as appropriate
- Be innovative e.g. exploit technologies that enable quick access to care data such as Single Sign-on and Context Management
- Meet NHS Strategic requirements
- Support safeguarding of vulnerable adults (18+ years) and safeguarding of children and young people (16+ years)
- Be accessible appropriately across the service: be available over the internet to subcontractor/partners to log in from their own working environment
- Support caseload management
- Minimise the number of paper forms that patients (and staff) have to fill in
- Meet clinical safety and assurance standard for the deployment and use of health IT systems including ISB 0160

Meet ISO 27001

3.7.4 Online services and information

The lead provider will be responsible for the provision and maintenance of an up-to-date patient focused website that provides and describes the ways in which the service can be accessed, who the service is for and the available treatments. It will also include

Consistent single branding for all IAPT services service

- Information and education resources for service users, family members and professionals
- Signposting to internal and external MH services
- Self-help information including self-triage, direction to self-help and other resources, and encouragement to good mental health and wellbeing)
- Self-referral information and functionality to be able to refer online, including type of services required
- Online contact email and chat services
- Ability to book appointments online
- A mechanism for patient feedback on line: to enable service users to easily provide meaningful feedback on services
- Access to online therapies

The website must be designed to meet accessibility standards

Other digital services should be considered such as provision of patient access and input to their electronic records

3.7.5 Hardware and Infrastructure

The lead provider will be responsible for hardware and infrastructure to support clinical and non-clinical applications (office & desktop applications email; print & file services; directory services; secure file transfer server http://content.digital.nhs.uk/seft; endpoint security; business applications such as finance and HR systems).

The lead provider will use industry-standard best practice frameworks and methodologies (e.g. Information Technology Infrastructure Library (ITIL) Service Management & Service Delivery). This is to ensure the information technology services and systems are aligned to the needs of the service and actively support them and add value.

The lead provider must provide, or secure the provision of, robust and resilient data and voice infrastructure, and services that will enable timely and uninterrupted delivery and management of services to include, but not limited to:

- Appropriate Health and Social Care Network (HSCN) connectivity
- · Access to support contemporaneous clinical notes
- Regular refresh and upgrade programmes to ensure performance and capability is maintained
- · Flexibility and scalability to meet future requirements
- Support online and real time communications to patients and staff through Chat, Skype, and Messenger etc

Note. The lead provider will be responsible for defining the warrantied environment for connectivity to be used by partners and sub-contractors.

Partner or subcontractors will be responsible for providing their own local infrastructure including devices and internet connection to enable full and equivalent connectivity to these systems. Partner or subcontractor equipment **must** meet the minimum specifications described in warrantied environment specification (WES) provided by the lead provider.

3.7.6 System maintenance and support

The lead provider will manage on-going IT system maintenance and support according to the NHS conditions of contract for the supply of IT systems and NHS conditions of contract for the provision of support services including but not limited to:

- Granting and revoking user access (setting up new users' accounts and profiles and dealing with password issues)
- Configuration management including keeping reference files up to date
- Monitor and manage the system performance, including liaison with service and system suppliers
- Manage system upgrades, including system down time. Any planned system downtime that impacts the service delivery must be agreed with the commissioner in advance.
- Ensure partners and subcontractors and service users are kept informed, and notified in advance of any significant changes or down time
- Have disaster recovery plans (including back-up processes /systems in place) should the electronic record system fail, and ensure business continuity processes are in place and adhered to.
- Resilience ensuring no single point of failure, and that services, including service desk, continue to be available when needed, whenever and wherever services are provided e.g. out of office hours
- Provide maintenance and support for their own hardware and software and ensure it meets the recommended specification/ WES required to effectively use the clinical system(s).
- Provider a formal service desk or contact for contractors and providers to deal with issues with the IM&T service provided including access, connectivity and usability. This should include processes for service requests, problem reporting & relevant escalation processes both within the lead and across partners

3.7.7 Wider Information Sharing

Wider information sharing across the mental health care pathway is at the heart of safe and effective care. As much information as possible must be made available to staff at the point of referral and the aim should be that patients and carers should only have to tell their story once. The Service will need to provide a thorough initial assessment to enable this

The lead provider will adopt appropriate technology and standards to enable interoperability, integration, and safe and secure collaboration and handoff between disparate systems and solutions from a multitude of partner agencies and suppliers across a range of organisations. These will include but not limited to

The Summary Enhanced Care Record

• Systems pertaining to the safeguarding of vulnerable adults (18+ years) and safeguarding of children and young people (16+ years)

• Working with / interfacing with other stakeholder systems outside mental health services that may hold or require data needed to provide robust and complete care

The local integrated clinical record system (currently Connecting Care ⁴⁴)

• Communication with the patient's GP about the patient's referral, condition, treatment and discharge

3.7.7.1 Connecting Care:

⁴⁴ Connecting Care is the flagship systems integration programme in Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire and active stakeholders include; CCGs, GPs, social care, acute hospitals, community providers, the ambulance service and mental health services.

The lead provider will sign up to the connecting care programme as the method for sharing data between stakeholder organisations contributing to care in BNSSG. They must:

- Provide resource to define the requirements in a format that allows the programme to easily develop solutions and support its roll out amongst stakeholders
- Sign up to the Connecting Care programme and ensure that the data feed (real time or near, based on best available solution) from the core IAPT ECR is available in the Connecting Care system from the start of the contract the commissioner will provide approximate costs and technical specs to support this
- Contribute to, and use relevant functionality in Connecting Care' making the portal available to staff. This includes the use of new functionality such as transfer of clinical documents as it becomes available

The lead provider should also consider information sharing strategies with stakeholders not currently part of Connecting Care, and develop where appropriate to ensure appropriate information is available along the whole care pathway.

The lead provider will need to establish clear and formal ways for the IAPT service to connect with other services e.g. employment and job retention support, social prescribing, welfare rights and debt advice, housing and homelessness, substance misuse services, NHS long-term physical health and perinatal mental health pathways etc. It is likely that IAPT therapists will not need or have time to access all such records; however the lead provider will have clear referral pathways to these services and be able to monitor uptake of these referrals and to explore outcome sharing including recovery rates.

AWP is the main provider of secondary mental health services across the BNSSG area and currently uses RiO as their client database. In order to ensure that people who are in receipt of both IAPT and secondary mental health care do not receive a poorer service through lack of connectivity of IM&T systems, the IAPT lead provider should collaborate with AWP to develop agreements and protocols for information sharing to ensure appropriate connections between their system and RiO (or any other system the mental health provider uses over the term of this contract).

Where information is already being shared with other systems and services, whether by manual data entry or electronic means, this must continue until another agreed mechanism is put in place.

3.7.8 Reporting

The lead provider will be responsible for reporting on the entire service as required by the national minimum dataset requirements and as defined in this service specification. The lead provider will also have responsibility for reporting on behalf of any/all partner /subcontracted agencies where the data is in their system. The majority of reporting will derive from the electronic care records system; additional information including important qualitative data on user outcomes and experiences will also be collected for reporting.

The lead provider will work with the Commissioner to agree a mechanism so that the information collected can be provided to commissioners according to the timetable agreed locally and in an agreed format.

The lead provider will:

Ensure there is a reporting solution that satisfies the statutory and contractual reporting requirements including:

Minimum Data Set(s) submissions to NHS Digital (on a monthly basis via the Exeter Portal)

Local KPI information

All national and local indicators, including KPIs and Access and Recovery standards⁴⁵

Ensure that regular service reporting and data is available to commissioners at least monthly to include details of:

Activity

Activity, including access and recovery information for special patient groups, such as those with Long Term Conditions, Perinatal and Postnatal patients, members of the armed forces and veterans

Clinical outcomes

Demographics (including the first 3 or 4 digits of the post code, Protected Characteristics under the Equalities Act 2010)

ICD 10 Code reports to allow commissioners to understand and reconcile any payments to be made to the lead or sub providers in respect of provision of the service

Reports on waiting times for the service as a whole, and for elements of it, for example for providers or treatment types

Recording and reporting of attendance and reasons for non for non-attendance and notice given (there will be a protocol), including whether this is due to a therapist cancelling the appointment, a person's illness etc

Where it is possible, we need the service to be able to work with other providers that are connected through formal pathways and protocols to measure and report any associated activity that can support IAPT outcomes

Generate reports to support service improvement. There is a need to measure information in addition to the Minimum Data Set (MDS) in relation to understanding more about people, their issues and what has changed for them. (currently it tends to be the GAD/PHQ scales along with other data) There is a requirement for the provider to be flexible and develop its recording over time as part of its service improvement

Provide equality & diversity information over the whole system

Work to improve data quality and consistency and have processes and policies to ensure data quality is maintained

Ensure commissioners have access to the data of the whole service for contract monitoring purposes and to ensure the integrity of the data management system

Ensure the system is kept up to date with all current and emerging NHS data set requirements. Where required, to implement Information Standard Notice changes

Work with commissioners to develop any future data reporting requirements that innovative and expansive

Work with partner organisations to ensure appropriate information is made available to inform wider city planning such as needs assessments etc.

Ensure the consistency with data/information from the previous service providers

Collect and provide information about the patient referrals and journeys through external agencies connected with protocols to referral pathways

http://content.digital.nhs.uk/iapt

http://content.digital.nhs.uk/iaptmonthly

http://content.digital.nhs.uk/iaptreports

⁴⁵http://www.datadictionary.nhs.uk/data_dictionary/messages/clinical_data_sets/data_sets/improving_ac cess to psychological therapies data set fr.asp?shownav=1

Allow data to be extracted to support Subject Access Requests from patients and their representatives

Ensure service users have visibility of all freely available non-confidential service metrics(ideally on the website). Service user representation needs to be considered in the reporting function of the system.

3.7.9 Innovation and best use of existing technology

The lead provider must demonstrate how they:

- Propose to and are making best use of current technologies, particularly mobile, internet and telephone facilities to make the services accessible for the widest and most diverse range of people e.g. to enable young people, older people, speakers of other languages, deaf people, carers, and other key demographics to be able to contact services electronically
- Use technology to make services more accessible to disabled people or those with specific needs. (Technology can increase access for people such as young men, older people or people with caring responsibilities or work commitments that may be a barrier to attending therapy). The provider will work with commissioners to ensure that they use technology in ways that enable the widest participation
- Engage with neighbourhood and voluntary sector social media networks to reach high volumes of people
- Will ensure the service and their workforce is continually responsive to innovation and new technologies: Actively participate in employing new and emerging technologies to support improved service delivery and engage with service users and representatives

3.7.10 Staff training

The lead provider must work to ensure there is a systematic approach to IM&T training that ensures appropriate staff competency (including staff of any subcontracted/partner services) in use of IM&T including, but not limited to:

- Induction The service lead must provide training in the ECR system to all staff including subcontractors and providers so that all new starters meet a minimum competency before being allowed access to the system to ensure data quality.
- IM&T training plans (including ECR, Connecting Care & reporting solution) in place for each staff group, that specifically match system processes to IAPT pathways.
- Creating ECR and other related Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) and evidence they are adhered to
- Processes to ensure staff are achieving and maintaining competency
- The lead provider will ensure integration of IM&T training into their staff training programme
- Data Quality principles and processes
- Handling of personal data and information governance
- Ensuring SOPs and training courses are updated, communicated and deployed as necessary in line with future system changes

The lead provider must put in place job focussed training i.e. how the system supports staff in performing their duties supported by job focussed user guides to underpin use of the system.

The lead provider must ensure there is an up-to-date testing and training environment to facilitate continuous relevant training.

The lead provider will continually develop a network of champions from across all services and run sessions to maintain IM&T and clinical engagement across the whole service.

3.7.11 Information Governance

The lead provider must comply with all Information Governance (IG) standards, NHS standards for record-keeping, the Data Protection Act, General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), Data Security and Protection Toolkit compliance, Caldicott principles (including Caldicott 2 and 3 recommendations where applicable), Department of Health standards and the common law duty of confidentiality. [1]

The lead provider must ensure that sharing is effective and safe; however the needs of the patient must remain paramount, as detailed in Caldicott Principle 7: The duty to share information can be as important as the duty to protect patient confidentiality. Health and social care professionals should have the confidence to share information in the best interests of their patients within the framework set out by these principles. They should be supported by the policies of their employers, regulators and professional bodies.

The provider and sub-contracted organisations must ensure that the legal bases for sharing and processing information are clearly identified. Transparency information explaining individuals rights and how their information will be used and shared must be clearly explained and available to individuals. Where it is deemed necessary to rely on consent for information sharing it must be documented in the electronic care record.

Caldicott 2 advises that registered and regulated social workers should be considered a part of the care team, and relevant information should be shared with members of the care team when they have a legitimate relationship with the patient or service user. Care teams may also contain staff that are not registered with a regulatory authority and yet undertake direct care. The provider organisations must ensure that robust combinations of safeguards are put in for these staff with regard to the processing of personal confidential data.

The lead provider should sign up to the Core Principles agreement at <u>http://www.protectinginfo.nhs.uk/</u>. This can then be used to support the set-up of service level information sharing agreements with key stakeholders.

3.7.11.1 Core Information Governance requirements

The core requirements when acting as a service provider to the NHS are that the provider must:

- Perform an annual information governance compliance assessment via the NHS Data Security and Protection Tookit. In doing so, shall meet all mandatory assertions for the relevant organisation type. If unable to meet this level the provider shall agree an action plan with an agreed timescale to achieve this with the commissioning organisation
- · Utilise the appropriate model of the toolkit, as agreed with the commissioner

In relation to compliance, the following items are specifically required to assure that the self-assessment is robust. The provider must:

- Ensure they have identified senior individuals to fulfil the roles of Caldicott Guardian, Senior Information Risk Owner and where required Data Protection Officer. As a default these roles should be with separate individuals
- Ensure all mobile devices with access to patient identifiable data (including but not limited to laptops, tablets, smartphones and removable media) are encrypted to current NHS standards <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/cyber-security/policy-and-goodpractice-in-health-care/encryption</u> across the whole system including those owned / used by partner or subcontractors
- Educate and train all their staff on their handling of personal data and information governance, with a minimum of an annual update and assessment of knowledge

- Maintain all information storage within the United Kingdom, unless appropriate technical and organisational measures are in place and agreed with the commissioner
- Have an active risk assessment and management programme to ensure the ongoing security of all information assets and information flows
- State how their systems and processes are compliant with the NHS Care Record Guarantee, including reporting on who, when and where access to a services user information was carried out, both from the perspective of the service user and the member of staff
- State how the use of personal data is controlled so that it is only accessible by those staff who need to know it for work related purposes. The lead provider will ensure that the purposes the data it is used for relates only to direct care provision, (including the management and development of) or non-care related uses previously agreed with the commissioner
- Ensure that processes and methods are clearly stated and in place for all users of the system to inform service users how their information is used, how they can access their records and how they can raise any concerns about the use of their personal data
- Provide evidence and assurance of a clear legal basis to process personal information,
- Where consent is relied upon ensure there are robust records and processes to manage consent, including how this is communicated should the service user change their mind at any time
- Provide assurance that appropriate informing is in place as required under GDPR, so the service users are fully aware of how their information is used and shared.
- Provide evidence and assurance on the management of the creation, amendment and removal of user access to their information assets containing personal data. Staff will be set up with access to the assets they need in a swift manner and changes/removal of access are enacted at the time of need or as soon after as possible
- Describe the controls to prevent disruption to use of information systems from threats such as viruses/malware and other continuity issues (such as power/technical failure)

Access to data must comply with NHS information governance principles e.g. role based access; legitimate relationship etc

Transfer of information between systems should, where possible, use structured and coded electronic messaging using secure file transfer mechanisms and agreed NHS standards e.g. NHS Interoperability Toolkit (ITK) and support Health Level 7 Clinical Document Architecture (CDA) for clinical document exchange etc

3.7.12 Permission to View (PTV)

In situations where the patient may call one organisation then be referred or signposted to others, as part of their care, any information provided to patients must explain this. The information provided on the original call must provide a clear and succinct explanation that sets the clear expectations for the patient on how their information will be accessed and used. When closing a call, a summary of what will happen next should include details of information sharing.

3.7.13 Protection and retention of information

The IAPT service can expect a proportion of people will contact it on behalf of others and it must be able to demonstrate how it ensures that the person who needs its support has consented to this where possible to do so.

All NHS organisations have a duty under the Public Records Act to make arrangements for the safe keeping and eventual disposal of all types of their records. In addition, NHS organisations are required to have robust records management procedures in place to meet the requirements set out under Data Protection legislation (including the General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018) and the Freedom of Information Act 2000. Detailed guidance on all aspects of record keeping and protection of information can be found in Records Management Code of Practice available at

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/records-management-code-of-practice-forhealth-and-social-care

4. Applicable Service Standards

4.1 Applicable national standards (eg NICE)

TBC.

4.2 Applicable standards set out in Guidance and/or issued by a competent body (eg Royal Colleges)

4.2.1 The IAPT Manual

The IAPT Manual and its associated Positive Practice Guides will form the basis of, and guide the delivery of the service.

These national documents must be used to inform the core delivery of the service. This specification will not reiterate the detail of the IAPT Manual and Positive Practice Guides, but rather will reference them and other key documents that currently offer guidance on evidenced practice. It will draw out locally pertinent issues and the key tensions. These tensions emerge from the guidance, from our own learning across the three former services in BNSSG and from our extensive consultation.

4.2.2 Service quality

The Accreditation Programme for Psychological Therapy Services published the 'Quality Standards for Psychological Therapy Services' written by the Royal College of Psychiatrists (3rd edition 2017). This document will form the basis for the service's clinical quality.

The IAPT Manual includes a helpful table of the key features of a 'better performing IAPT service' against CQC domains.

4.2.3 Other guidance

There is and will continue to be a wide range of published policy and guidance that directly relates to, or specifically references IAPT. This might be general, intervention-specific or user group specific.

It is also expected that the provider will follow and integrate research and evidence on the wider determinants of mental health that can support the achievement of better outcomes for service users.

4.2.4 IAPT positive practice guides

These are all publicly available at the University of East Anglia website⁴⁶.

4.3 Applicable local standards

TBC?

5. Applicable quality requirements and CQUIN goals

5.1 Applicable Quality Requirements (See Schedule 4A-C) Quality Standards for Psychological Therapies Services⁴⁷.

5.2 Applicable CQUIN goals (See Schedule 4D)

TBC.

6. Location of Provider Premises

The Provider's Premises are located at:

The provider will establish a single main service administrative base and use a wide range of locations across the service delivery area that enable it to deliver locally based services (see 3.2.2 Improving access to, and accessibility of the service).

7. Individual Service User Placement

N/A.

Key of technical definitions and abbreviations

Links to key related sections:

- 3.2.1 Delivery model
- 3.2.6 Recovery
- 3.4.2 Exclusions

BNSSG Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire

BSL British Sign Language

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

⁴⁶ <u>http://www.uea.ac.uk/medicine/departments/psychological-sciences/cognitive-behavioural-therapy-training/-about-iapt-and-the-history-of-the-programme/iapt-pathfinder-positive-practice-guides</u>

⁴⁷ <u>Quality Standards for Psychological Therapies. Third edition. Accreditation Programme for</u> <u>Psychological Therapies Services, Royal College of Psychiatrists' Centre for Quality</u> <u>Improvement. 2017.</u>

СВТ	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
DNA	Do not attend
FYFVMH	Five Year Forward View for Mental Health
GAD-7	Generalised Anxiety Disorder-7
GNP	Gross national product
HEE	Health Education England
IAPT	Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
IAPT 'Caseness'	A person is said to be at caseness when their symptom score exceeds the accepted clinical threshold for the relevant measure of symptoms. For the PHQ-9, this is a score of 10 or above. For the GAD-7, this is a score of 8 or above. Other symptom measures, such as those used to measure the severity of different anxiety disorders, have their own specific thresholds. Some outcome measures (such as the Work and Social Adjustment Scale) do not have recommended caseness thresholds but provide valuable additional information about the quality of a treatment response.
IAPT 'Recovery'	A national standard that at least 50% of eligible referrals should move to recovery has been set for IAPT services. A person moves to recovery if their symptoms were considered a clinical case at the start of their treatment (that is, their symptoms exceed a defined threshold as measured by scoring tools) and not a clinical case at the end of their treatment. The recovery rate is defined as: Number of referrals that moved to recovery $\frac{\binom{\text{Number of referrals}}{(\text{number of referrals})} - \binom{\text{Number of referrals}}{(\text{number of referrals})} \times 100$
IAPT 'Access'	The Access Rate is defined as the "number of people entering treatment over the level of need, i.e. the number of people with depression and anxiety disorders in the population expressed; a. as a number (the number of referrals entering treatment) b. as a percentage of total prevalence"
IAPT-SMI	Improving Access to Psychological Therapies for Severe Mental Illness
Intersectionality	The term intersectionality attempts to describe how connected systems of power impact those who are most marginalized in society. Intersectionality considers that the various aspects of humanity, such as class, race, sexual orientation, disability and gender, do not exist separately from each other but are complexly interwoven.
LA	Local Authority
LSOA	Lower Layer Super Output Area

- LTC/s Long-term Condition/s
- MDS (IAPT) Minimum Data Set

MH	Mental Health
MUS	Medically Unexplained Symptoms
NHSE	National Health Service England
NICE	The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
PH	Public Health
PHQ-9	Patient Health Questionnaire-9
Person-centred	In person-centred care, health and social care professionals work collaboratively with people who use services. Person-centred care supports people to develop the knowledge, skills and confidence they need to more effectively manage and make informed decisions about their own health and health care.
Person-centred	collaboratively with people who use services. Person-centred care supports people to develop the knowledge, skills and confidence they need to more effectively manage and make informed decisions about
	collaboratively with people who use services. Person-centred care supports people to develop the knowledge, skills and confidence they need to more effectively manage and make informed decisions about their own health and health care.

Bidder pack documents

These documents will be part of the bidder pack:

List of references and good practice guidance

Service ethos document

Associated pathways document

Full consultation summary

Evaluating the impact of a therapeutic consultation session on psychotherapeutic engagement and outcomes compared with treatment-as-usual site comparators (findings of the University of Chester pilot study)

Full evidence review search notes

The Bristol and South Gloucestershire Counselling Service specification

Equality Impact Assessment

Quality Impact Assessment

Quality Standards for Psychological Therapies Services